# Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Lisa Clow

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Simone Salandy, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Julia Leischner, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. Mary Garbowski, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

The Office of the Provost

Walden University 2019

# Abstract

Yoga as a Women's Population Health Intervention

by

Lisa Clow

MA, The George Washington University, 1997

BS, Indiana University of Pennsylvania, 1990

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

November 2019

Abstract

Women's mortality rate in the United States has increased in almost every age group in the past several years. However, more women in the United States are choosing yoga as a complementary health approach to improve general well-being. Thus, research on yoga and other factors that affect women's health in the United States may inform public health initiatives to address the health disparities in women's mortality rate. Grounded in the health belief model, the purpose of this study was to explore whether the factors of practicing the components of yoga, doctor's recommendation for increased physical activity, body mass index (BMI) categories, hypertension, high cholesterol, age, and occupation predicted the self-rated health of women. This cross-sectional, secondary analysis of the 2017 National Health Interview Survey included 14,464 female respondents, and ordinal logistic regression analysis was used to examine the data. The results showed that self-reported participation in yoga, breathing as a part of yoga, and meditation as a part of yoga was associated with higher self-rated health. Additionally, participants with healthy weight BMI, teachers, and participants who did not receive recommendations for increased physical activity and did not have hypertension or high cholesterol were more likely to report better self-rated health. Based on the results of this study, public health researchers may continue to explore the effects of yoga on women and how a yoga-based population health intervention could help women in the United States live longer and healthier lives.

Yoga as a Women's Population Health Intervention

by

Lisa Clow

MA, The George Washington University, 1997

BS, Indiana University of Pennsylvania, 1990

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

November 2019

ProQuest Number: 27545743

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 27545743

Published by ProQuest LLC (2019). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

# Dedication

I want to dedicate this work to all the women in this world who have the power within to achieve health and well-being through the inquiry of yoga.

# Acknowledgments

I want to thank my committee chair, Dr. Simone Salandy, and committee member Dr. Julia Leischner, for their unrelenting support, guidance, and encouragement. I would also like to thank Dr. Mary Garbowski for her feedback and guidance. Thank you to Dr. Zin Htway for his valued time and expertise.

Thank you to my husband for his continual understanding, love, and support during this journey. I also would like to acknowledge the unwavering loyalty and support of my dog Remington. Through all the late nights and early mornings, he was always by my side and now and again, reminded me when it was time for a break. Thank you to my Ninja Yogis across the seas, my tribe, for all of your words of encouragement and support.

Thank you to Dr. Marsha Kaufman and Dr. Franklyn Penn for your friendship and support through this journey that we took together. I am so glad that I sat at your table during a residency and that we continue to support each other in our goals. Last but not least, I thank you to all of my family members, friends, and colleagues, who were my cheerleaders and never doubted me.

List of Tables	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	3
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of Study	6
Research Questions and Hypotheses	7
Theoretical Framework for the Study	9
Nature of the Study	9
Definitions	10
Assumptions	11
Scope and Delimitations	11
Limitations	11
Significance	12
Summary	12
Chapter 2: Literature Review	14
Introduction	14
Literature Search Strategy	14
Health Belief Model	15
Major Assumptions of the Health Belief Model Constructs	15
Application of Health Belief Model in Previous Studies	16
Literature Review Related to Key Concepts	18

# Table of Contents

Women's Mortality Rate in the United States	
Well-Being and Yoga	
Women's Health and Yoga	25
Summary	34
Chapter 3: Research Method	35
Introduction	35
Research Design and Rationale	35
Methodology	36
Sampling and Data Collection	
Population and Participation	
Instrumentation	37
Operationalization	
Data Analysis Plan	
Variables and Variable Recoding	40
Research Questions and Hypotheses	44
Threats to Validity	
Ethical Procedures	46
Summary	47
Chapter 4: Results	48
Introduction	48
Descriptive Statistics	50
Assessment for Statistical Assumptions	53

# Results 54

Research Question 1 Ordinal Logistic Regression	54
Research Question 2 Ordinal Logistic Regression	57
Research Question 3 Ordinal Logistic Regression	59
Research Question 4 Ordinal Logistic Regression	61
Summary	63
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	65
Introduction	65
Interpretation of findings	66
Research Question 1	66
Research Question 2	67
Research Question 3	68
Research Question 4	69
Limitations of the Study	70
Recommendations	70
Implications for Social Change	71
Conclusion	71
References	73

# List of Tables

Table 1. Research Questions with Null Hypothesis and Statistical Analysis	. 39
Table 2. Variable Descriptions from 2017 National Health Interview Survey	. 43
Table 3. Demographics of Study Sample ( $n = 14,464$ ) and Variable Frequencies	52
Table 4. Multicollinearity	53
Table 5. Proportional Odds	. 54
Table 6. Research Question 1 Practiced Yoga	. 55
Table 7. Research Question 1 Breathing and Meditation	. 56
Table 8. Research Question 2 Practiced Yoga	. 58
Table 9. Research Question 2 Breathing and Meditation	. 59
Table 10. Research Question 3 Practiced Yoga	. 60
Table 11. Research Question 3 Breathing and Meditation	. 61
Table 12. Research Question 4 Practiced Yoga	. 62
Table 13. Research Question 4 Breathing and Meditation	63

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Public health's interest in the prevention of chronic disease and the development of interventions for population health has increased over the past several decades, with more recognition of the importance of social and behavioral science in addressing prevention (Schneider, 2011). Since the early 1950s, the expansion of public health's consideration of psychosocial, sociocultural, and behavioral variables related to the mortality rate in the United States has led to the development of a population-based approach to disease prevention (Schneiderman & Speers, 2013). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) identified the use of data in public health assessments as an essential component in population health interventions (Schneider, 2011). The National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), the CDC, and the Census Bureau developed the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) for the collection of data to identify trends of disease and risk factor trends in the U.S. population (Schneider, 2011).

In 2017, the NCHS added adult complementary health questions as a part of the adult complementary and alternative medicine supplement for the NHIS (NCHS, 2018). The adult complementary health section included inquiry on complementary health approaches (CHAs), and participants answered questions about their use of yoga over the past 12 months, breathing as a part of yoga, and meditation as a part of yoga. Yoga was one of the top 10 CHAs used in the United States that promoted a holistic approach to health (National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health [NCCIH, 2018). Over 14% of U.S. adults practiced yoga in the past year (Clark, Barnes, Black, Stussman, & Nahin, 2018). Practicing yoga has increased general well-being and can reduce stress,

increase positive mental health, and promote physical activity (NCCIH, 2018). Yoga has also relieved symptoms of chronic diseases such as cancer, COPD, obesity, heart disease, and diabetes (NCCIH, 2018). Additionally, yoga has reduced anxiety and depression due to medical conditions and various circumstances in life (NCCIH, 2018). Because most yoga studies have used small sample sizes that are not generalizable, with a majority of higher educated, non-Hispanic White women practicing yoga (NCCIH, 2018), I used the 2017 NHIS data to explore the relationship between trends in women's use of yoga, breathing as a part of yoga, and meditation as a part of yoga, hypertension, high cholesterol body mass index (BMI), age, teaching as an occupation, being told to increase physical activity, and self-rated health (SRH) as a measure of well-being.

Primary prevention in public health is focused on the shift from the treating disease to changing societal norms that promoted well-being (Cohen & Chehimi, 2012). The potential positive social change implications of this study include primary prevention recommendations for women's population health through the practice of yoga, breathing, and meditation. Primary prevention implications also include the recommendations for policies and future public health research to further explore yoga practice as a women's population health intervention.

This chapter includes the background of women's health in the United States and the benefits of yoga as a population health intervention. This chapter also consists of the public health problem, the purpose of this study, the research questions, and the theoretical framework. Further, the chapter includes the definition of the terms, the major assumptions, and delimitations, as well as the significance of the study.

#### Background

Compared to men in the United States and women in other high-income countries, women in the United States experience health disparities and higher rates of chronic disease (The National Institute of Health Office of Research on Women's Health, 2019). Women's mortality rate in the United States has increased in almost every age group in the past several years due to injuries, suicide, cancer, and heart disease (NCHS, 2018). Social cohesion has been strongly associated with mortality rate, and mortality rates vary by state (Montez, Zajacova, & Hayward, 2016). Therefore, the National Prevention Council created a strategic plan to improve the health of citizens and to reduce the cost of health care in the United States (Department of Health and Human Services, 2011). Priorities for the plan included addressing the declining well-being of U.S. citizens and closing the gap in health disparities as well as improving the mental and emotional wellbeing of Americans. The four strategic directions of the plan were focused on communities that promote wellness through prevention, building prevention-focused health care, empowering people to make healthy choices, and eliminating health disparities in the United States (Department of Health and Human Services, 2011).

Recent studies have focused on yoga to rehabilitate patients with chronic disease, increase physical activity, reduce the effects of stress on mental health, and improve general wellness (NCCHI, 2018). After analyzing data from the 2012 NHIS, over 94% of participants who practiced yoga did so for general well-being compared to those who practiced yoga for a specific health reason (Stussman, Black, Barnes, Clarke, & Nahin, 2015). Most of the participants believed that a yoga practice prevented disease and promoted wellness (Stussman et al., 2015). Yoga participants reported reduced stress, higher motivation to be physically active, higher self-reported health outcome, and better emotional well-being (Stussman et al., 2015). Additionally, those suffering from work-related stress have reported lower scores in health-related quality of life and traditional yoga practice may help to prevent mental health issues related to burnout in the workplace (Grensman et al., 2018). Further, women who practiced yoga have had more positive health behaviors than nonpractitioners and were more likely to be physically active and eat healthier (Cramer, Sibbritt, Park, Adams, & Lauche, 2017). Women who practiced yoga during and after cancer treatment also scored higher on the World Health Organization Well-Being questionnaire (Haier, Duda,& Branss-Tallen, 2018).This study adds to the body of research that explores how practicing all the components of yoga could increase women's health.

## **Problem Statement**

The 10 essential public health services include providing research-based recommendations for the increase of health-related quality of life and the promotion of health behaviors that prevent chronic diseases (CDC, 2014). The surgeon general stated that emotional well-being and mental well-being was a focus on the National Prevention Strategy (Department of Health and Human Services, 2011). The National Prevention Strategy was designed as a part of the Affordable Care Act and informed stakeholders as well as policymakers on ways to increase the well-being of Americans (Department of Health and Human Services, 2011). The state of population health in the United States challenges public health scholars because of a decline of personal well-being (Seib et al., 2014; Shern, Blanch, & Steverman, 2016). Women's mortality rate in the United States has increased over the past several years (NCHS, 2017). Women in the United States have lower life expectancy than other high-income countries, especially those under 65 years old (Ho & Hendi, 2018). Drug overdose, cardiovascular disease, and respiratory disease are contributing factors in the decline in life expectancy (Ho & Hendi, 2018). Although chronic disease continued to persist as the top reasons for early death among women, deaths due to unintentional injuries, drug overdose, and suicide have increased as well (NCHS, 2018).

The number of U.S. adults who used yoga as a way of improving health has increased, and over 14% of the adult sample in the 2017 NHIS answered *yes* to the question "participated in yoga in the past 12 months" (Clark et al., 2018). Additionally, more women chose yoga as a health-promoting behavior, and there was increased use of meditation as a part of yoga in the 2017 NHIS data (Clark et al., 2018). Since a growing number of Americans used yoga as a CHA, there is a need for more public health-focused studies on the use of yoga as an effective health and well-being promoting behavior (Clark et al., 2018). Because yoga promotes positive health behaviors and improved health outcomes, public health initiatives should explore yoga as a potential population health intervention (Leischner, 2015). From a public health perspective, yoga researchers should design generalizable studies (Patwardhan, 2017).

This study filled a gap in the literature by exploring the association between the independent variables of health outcomes, yoga as health behavior, and dependent

variable SRH in women. Research has indicated that SRH is a valid predictor of mortality and measure of health (Assari, Lankarani, & Burgard, 2016). Thus, the SRH questions used in surveys such as the NHIS were appropriate for monitoring population health as a measure of the general perception of health and health-related quality of life (Hays, Spritzer, Thompson, & Cella, 2015). By identifying the proportional odds and the statistical significance of the model in using the factors to predict the dependent variable, this study could guide future research and provide recommendations for designing yogabased women's population health interventions that promote well-being and positive health behaviors.

### **Purpose of Study**

Generalizable yoga research has the potential to influence the design of women's population health interventions and prevention programs in the United States (NCCIH, 2018). The purpose of this study was to explore the relationships between the factors of practicing yoga, breathing, and meditation, hypertension, high cholesterol, being told to increase physical activity, BMI, teacher occupation, the covariate of age, and the dependent variable of SRH. Significantly statistical effects found to predict the dependent variable in this study could inform future studies that could test for causality with more sophisticated statistical analysis. The outcomes of this study could also be of interest to public health scholars, policymakers, and other stakeholders in health care interested in increasing population health and studying CHA for prevention and intervention. This research also fills a gap in understanding the association between the components of yoga, health outcomes, age, occupation, and the odds of predicting SRH in women.

Public health practitioners could replicate this study for future insight on yoga as a population health intervention. Positive social change can result from the development of yoga-based public health promotions.

# **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

Research Question 1: Are the factors practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, teacher occupational status, and the covariate age factors that predict self-rated health?

 $H_11$ : There is an association between practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, teacher occupational status, age, and self-rated health.

 $H_01$ : There is no association between practicing yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, teacher occupational status, age, and self-rated health.

Research Question 2: Are the factors told to increase physical activity past 12 months, BMI, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga factors that predict self-rated health?

 $H_1$ 2: There is an association between told to increase physical activity past 12 months, BMI, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

 $H_02$ : There is no association told to increase physical activity past 12 months, BMI, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health. Research Question 3: Are the factors had hypertension, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga factors that predict self-rated health?

 $H_1$ 3: There is an association between had hypertension, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

 $H_0$ 3: There is no association between had hypertension, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

Research Question 4: Are the factors had high cholesterol, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga factors that predict self-rated health?

 $H_14$ : There is an association between had had high cholesterol, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

 $H_04$ : There is no association between had high cholesterol, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

This study included the 2017 NHIS data to explore the odds of predicting the dependent variable women's SRH—health better/worse/same, compared with 12 months ago—and the statistical significance of the model using the independent variables of

hypertension, high cholesterol, recommendation to increase physical activity, BMI, practicing the components of yoga, age, and teaching as an occupation.

### **Theoretical Framework for the Study**

The theoretical framework used in the study was the health belief model (HBM). The HBM may explain the use of yoga as a CHA through the constructs of perceived susceptibility and perceived benefits for well-being (Skinner, Tiro, & Champion, 2015). If the perceived benefits of the intervention outweigh the perceived risks of the consequences of the health risk, the individual acts on health behavior (Skinner et al., 2015). Through the lens of HBM, I explored the choice of participating in yoga for the health benefits. HBM constructs have been used in a variety of women's health studies to explain the increase in yoga participation. For example, Atkinson and Permuth-Levine (2009) stated that the HBM explained why women chose yoga as a health behavior that would lead to a positive health outcome and the barriers that might keep them from participating. Kabiri, Ali, and Zulnaidi (2018) also used the HBM to explain that the noncompetitiveness of yoga and perceived social benefit may explain why females predominantly practice modern yoga, though cost of classes was a barrier to participation. The constructs of perceived benefits and perceived risks are discussed later in Chapter 2.

# Nature of the Study

This quantitative study involved a correlational, cross-sectional design to analyze secondary data from the 2017 NHIS. The correlation design was most appropriate when looking for associations, and the cross-sectional aspect pertains to the dataset collection. The reason for using secondary data for this study includes the low cost, time efficiency, and the purpose of the original data collection. The methodology of this study included the quantitative ordinal logistical regression in SPSS to provide an accurate explanation of the associations between the factors, the covariate, and dependent variable. The ordinal logistical regression explains the odds of predicting the level of SRH and the statistically significant effect of the model using the factors of practicing the components of yoga, the health outcomes of hypertension, high blood pressure, BMI, doctor's recommendations to increase physical activity, teacher occupation, and the covariate was age.

# Definitions

*Breathing exercises:* May involve actively controlling the was air is drawn in or the rate or depth of breathing (NCCIH, 2018).

*Ethics of yoga:* Guideline for yoga practice:

- 1. Yama: Sanskrit word for restraints
- 2. Niyama: Sanskrit word for observances
- 3. Asana: Sanskrit word for body postures or poses
- 4. Pranayama: Sanskrit word for yogic breath or breath control
- 5. Dhyana: Sanskrit word for meditation
- 6. Dharana: Sanskrit word for increased focus and attention
- 7. Samadhi: Sanskrit word for the state of bliss. (Taneja, 2014)
- Health-related quality of life: Physical or mental aspects that describe a person's

overall quality of life (CDC, 2018c).

*Meditation:* A mind and body practice that increases calmness and physical

relaxation that enhances overall health and well-being (NCCIH, 2018).

*Well-being:* A measure of how a person feels about their state of physical, emotional, and social health (CDC, 2018c).

*Yoga practice:* An ancient practice that promotes physical well-being and mental well-being (NCCIH, 2018).

# Assumptions

The first assumption was that the reason that individuals practice yoga, breathing, and meditation is for improving or maintaining health and increasing well-being. The second assumption was that yoga practice could vary in type or style of yoga. A third assumption was that the amount of yoga practiced could vary among participants. These assumptions were necessary to explore the relationships among the variables in this study.

### **Scope and Delimitations**

The scope of this study addressed the potential use of yoga as a women's population health intervention from a public health perspective. The topic of this study was chosen as an exploration into the increasing participation of yoga by women in the United States and the benefits that these women perceive as SRH. The results may lead to more in-depth yoga research as well as the adoption of yoga as a women's population health promotion.

# Limitations

The boundaries of this study were limited to the U.S. population who participated in the 2017 NHIS. Because of the correlation design of the study, results did not describe causal relationships. The results are generalizable for women in the United States, but there may be other confounding variables. Additionally, because of the single point collection, the data could be subject to bias and threaten internal validity. Another limitation may be the comprehension of the survey participants of what yoga practice implies and low health literacy.

# Significance

This research could change the way public health scholars approach women's population health promotion. Because more women are participating in yoga as a way of increasing well-being and health-related quality of life, public health researchers may continue to explore the effects of yoga on women and how a yoga-based population health intervention could help women in the United States live longer and healthier lives. The goal of public health is to improve population health through the research-based education of the stakeholders and recommendations for policy changes (Schneider, 2011). This study could further the progress of public health in raising the level of population health.

#### Summary

Chapter 1 provided an introduction to the study and the background of the issue of declined well-being. Chapter 1 also included the discussion of the increased mortality rate of women in the United States and the increased participation in yoga by U.S. women. The purpose of the study was to explore how the factors of health status, recommendations for increased physical activity, BMI, teaching as an occupation, and the covariate of age relate to SRH using the HBM as a framework.

Chapter 2 presents the scope of the state of women's well-being in the United States, the benefits of yoga on well-being, the literature search strategy, and the literature review. The chapter also contains HBM assumptions and theoretical constructs. Chapter 2 also includes examples of yoga research in the promotion of health and well-being.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

### Introduction

From 2014 through 2016, life expectancy in the United States decreased by 0.3 years (NCHS, 2017). The National Institute of Health Office of Research on Women's Health (2019) stated that there were health issues specific to women in the United States that were not common in other high-income countries such as higher rates of drug overdoses, suicide, heart disease, and cancer. More research on factors that affect women's health in the United States could inform public health initiatives that could address the health disparities in women's mortality rate (The National Institute of Health Office of Research on Women's Health, 2019). For example, yoga was the most popular CHA for chronic disease prevention in the 2017 NHIS survey (Clark et al., 2018). More women have chosen to practice yoga for general health purposes than previous years (Clark et al., 2018). The purpose of this study was to explore the associations between practicing yoga, breathing, and meditation, recommendations for increased physical activity, health outcomes, age, occupation and SRH among women in the United States through the lens of public health.

#### **Literature Search Strategy**

The search engines and library databases used in the literature review included Google Scholar, MEDLINE, CINAHL, ProQuest Health and Medical Collection, PubMed, and Thoreau within the Walden University Library, CDC.gov, and NIH.gov. Key search terms included the following: *well-being or wellbeing or well being, yoga, yoga and meditation, yoga and breathing, yoga and women's health, yoga and chronic*  disease, yoga and heart disease, yoga and fall prevention, yoga and pain management, yoga and suicide prevention, yoga and post-traumatic stress disorder, women's health, mindfulness, mindful movement, work-related stress and well-being or well being or wellbeing, yoga and work-related stress, SRH and well-being or wellbeing or well being, health belief model, health belief model and yoga, health belief model and health behavior, health belief model, and chronic disease. The scope of the literature review was current peer-reviewed journals, research articles, and texts written between 2014 to 2019 in the area related to well-being, yoga and health, women's health, and yoga to prevent and treat chronic disease. Seminal research included original research on the health belief model and books written on yoga practice, yoga ethics, and the Yoga Sutras of Patanjali.

#### **Health Belief Model**

The theoretical framework for this study is the HBM. In the 1950s, public health scholars used the HBM to explain why people were not adhering to recommendations for chronic disease prevention (Skinner et al., 2015). Originating from the cognitive theory, the HBM involves constructs to explore why people choose to follow prevention protocols or treatments for chronic diseases (Skinner et al., 2015). The HBM considers individual factors such as age and socioeconomic background along with the personal belief of chronic disease risk as well as the belief of benefit from a change in behavior (Skinner et al., 2015).

# Major Assumptions of the Health Belief Model Constructs

HBM provided a theoretical lens through which I explored how those who practiced yoga, breathing, and meditation perceive the benefits through SRH and what motivates them to participate in yoga. The HBM construct of perceived benefits is the second strongest predictor of health behavior change (Sulat, JPrabandari, Sanusi, Hapsari, & Santoso, 2018). The HBM suggests that a negative perception of a health risk increases the chances of participating in health-promoting behavior (Skinner et al., 2015). Additionally, when the perceived benefits of participating in a health behavior outweigh the barriers, the person changes the health behavior (Skinner et al., 2015).

#### **Application of Health Belief Model in Previous Studies**

Many researchers have used the HBM in studies to examine health behaviors. For example, Park, Clement, Hooyman, Cavalie, and Ouslander (2015) used the HBM in the study of complementary and alternative medicine for managing chronic pain among 215 women and 66 men with a mean age of 74. Park et al. used the arthritis-related health belief instrument, a modified HBM tool, to measure perceived severity, perceived susceptibility, perceived barriers, and perceived benefits. Park et al. stated that the arthritis-related health belief instrument could predict the use of complementary and alternative medicine for chronic pain among an ethnically diverse population.

Researchers have also used the HBM to examine practicing yoga as a health behavior. Atkinson and Permuth-Levine (2009) used HBM to explain why 37 female and 13 male participants chose to begin practicing yoga and the perceived barriers that prohibited the practice. Participants' perceived barriers included the inconvenience of the location of classes and the cost, and the perceived benefits of yoga included health promotion, increased psychological health, and the comparison of yoga to conventional treatment for the disease (Atkinson & Permuth-Levine, 2009). Kabiri et al. (2018) also used the HBM to investigate the perceived benefits and barriers of yoga practice among 165 female and 32 male college students and found that perceived barriers include time and cost. Further, Wertman, Wister, and Mitchell (2016) used the HBM to study the differences in practices between 352 female and 100 male adults ranging from 40 to 82 years old who participated in yoga. The HBM supported the premise that the participants practiced yoga based on the perceived benefits and the protective factors from diseases. The barriers were the cost-benefit and the lack of yoga classes available. The path in which a person initiated a yoga practice for self-care was different depending on age, gender, socioeconomic background, and exposure to media cues, with middle-aged participants reading about the benefit of yoga and older participants going with family and friends (Wertman et al., 2016).

Research has also suggested the use of the HBM to design prevention programs. Hoseini, Maleki, Moeini, and Sharifirad (2014) used the HBM to study 92 women with the mean age of 41 years old not diagnosed with hypertension but had family members with the diagnosis. Hosieni et al. used the HBM constructs of perceived susceptibility and perceived severity to develop a curriculum on the risks of hypertension and the benefits of regular physical activity. All the participants completed a physical activity questionnaire before and after the intervention. After attending three educational sessions, the intervention groups mean scores of physical activity, leisure, and sports component of the questionnaire increased significantly, whereas the control groups scores had no statistical significance.

#### Literature Review Related to Key Concepts

### Women's Mortality Rate in the United States

In 2016, life expectancy in the United States was 84 years for Hispanic women, 81 years for non-Hispanic White women, and 78 years for non-Hispanic Black women (NCHS, 2017). Since 2013, death rates for women between 25 to 44 years old have increased by 5% each year (NCHS, 2017). Over the past 10 years, the death rate for women between the age of 45-65 has increased by almost 1% each year (NCHS, 2017).

The top four reasons for mortality in women between the age of 25 to 34 are unintentional injuries, cancer, suicide, and heart disease (NCHS, 2017). Although the mortality rate for unintentional injuries and suicide decreases between 35 to 44 years old, the rates of death due to cancer and heart disease increases (NCHS, 2017). Additionally, women between the age of 45 and 54 are vulnerable to cancer, heart disease, unintentional injuries, and chronic liver disease, and women 55 to 64 have more risk of death due to chronic lower respiratory disease than chronic liver disease (NCHS, 2017). Although mortality rates due to cancer and heart disease, and women 55 to 64 have more risk of death due to chronic lower respiratory disease than chronic liver disease (NCHS, 2017). Although mortality rates due to cancer and heart disease have decreased over the past 10 years, death caused by drug overdose, liver disease, and suicide has increased (NCHS, 2017). Drug overdose deaths among women 25 to 34 years old has increased at a rate of almost 20% each year from 2014 to 2016 (NCHS, 2017). Death due to suicide increased among women 25 to 64 years old over the past decade with the highest rates among 45 to 64 year olds (NCHS, 2017).

Unintentional injuries. The leading cause of death among women under the age of 42 years old is unintentional injuries (Mack, Peterson, Zhou, MacConvery, & Wilkins,

2017). For example, fatal falls were the most common cause of injury death for women of any age and the number one cause of death for women over the age of 70 (Mack et al., 2017). In 2015, medical treatment for women who experienced a fatal fall cost over \$330 million, and women's nonfatal fall treatment totaled over \$22 billion (Burns, Stevens, & Lee, 2016). Women were more likely to require medical treatment for falls, and women over the age of 84 accounted for one-third of the injury treatment costs (Burns et al., 2016). Additionally, the demographic shift of an older population could increase healthcare expenditure (Smith, Mross, & Christopher, 2017). The National Center for Injury Prevention and Control (2015) stated that those who suffered from a fall were more likely to fall again. Some risk factors for falling are muscle weakness, balance issues, chronic disease, and inactivity (National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, 2015). Understanding the community's needs and choosing an evidence-based fall prevention program and recruiting participants are steps to implementing a successful program (National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, 2015). Public health leaders can partner with community-based organizations to research, develop, and implement appropriate prevention strategies and programs (National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, 2015).

Unintentional poisoning due to drug overdose has been the second leading cause of injury death among women of all ages in the United States (Mack et al., 2017). The opioid epidemic and the medical treatment for pain has increased number of unintentional poisoning deaths in the United States (Tick et al., 2018). The National Institute on Drug Abuse (2018) stated that over 19 million women in the United States used an illicit drug in the past year and that women used the drugs to control weight, pain, exhaustion, and self-treatment of mental health issues. The medical treatment of pain cost over \$560 billion each year, and more than 100 million Americans have suffered from chronic pain, which decreases work-related output, physical and mental well-being, and social relationships (Tick et al., 2018). Women of every race are more likely to suffer from chronic pain and more likely to receive inadequate diagnosis and treatment of pain (Tick et al., 2018). Though women tended to use less of a drug, they became addicted over less time (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2018). Women have also experienced greater physiological changes and are more likely to die from an overdose (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2018). Solutions to the opioid and pain epidemic can include alternative, nonpharmacological research-based treatments (Tick et al., 2018). Yoga could be a viable alternative to pain treatment, but future studies should include more rigorous research (Tick et al., 2018).

**Suicide.** Suicide was the fourth leading cause of injury death among women of all ages (Mack et al., 2017). Suicide rates in the United States increased each year from 1999 to 2006 (NCHS, 2017). From 2006 to 2016, suicide was the third leading cause of death for those under the age of 45 and the eighth leading cause of death for those 45 to 64 years old (NCHS, 2017). Suicide risk factors include problems in relationships, drug abuse, physical health, mental health, legal issues, financial stress, and housing stress (CDC, 2018d). Learning to cope with stress, along with activities that promote social connections could reduce the risk of suicide (CDC, 2018d). Communities and workplaces

can also create healthy environments that promote a sense of belonging to reduce the risks factors for suicide (CDC, 2018d).

**Chronic disease.** Chronic disease is another leading cause of death for women. About 7.5 % of women between the age of 45 and 54, 12% of women between the age of 55 and 64, and 18% of women over the age of 64 have experienced cancer (NCHS, 2017). The overall incident rates in women have remained steady since 1999, though death rates due to cancer in women have declined about 1.4% each year (Cronin et al., 2018). However, although the rate of incidents of cancers not associated with obesity has decreased since 2005, incidence rates for most cancers associated with obesity have increased (Steele et al., 2017). Additionally, endometrial, ovarian, and postmenopausal breast cancer incidence rates increased in women in 2014 (Steele et al., 2017). The CDC (2018b) stated that healthy choices such as abstaining from tobacco use, limiting alcohol consumption, and maintaining a healthy weight reduced the risk of cancer.

Further, the number of deaths due to heart disease in women increased with age from 2006 to 2016 (NCHS, 2017). Despite educational campaigns, most women have been unaware of the signs and symptoms of a heart attack and have died before they arrived at a hospital for care (Murphy, Alderman, Harvey, & Harris, 2017). Women are also more likely to experience a heart attack during times of functional or emotional stress and could have atypical signs such as neck pain or nausea (Murphy et al., 2017). The risk factors for death caused by cardiovascular heart disease include age, smoker status, high systolic blood pressure, diabetes mellitus, family history of premature myocardial infarction, and high HDL cholesterol (Leening et al., 2019). Other risk factors for heart disease include overweight, obesity, poor diet, physical inactivity, and excessive alcohol intake (CDC, 2017a). Treatment for diagnosed heart disease in women can include counseling on adopting healthy behaviors that lower BMI, reduce blood pressure, reduce glucose levels, lower cholesterol levels, and lower resting heart rate (Murphy et al., 2017). Learning ways to cope with stress could also reduce the risk of heart disease (CDC, 2017a).

The number of deaths due to chronic liver disease and cirrhosis in women over the age of 25 to 34 showed the greatest increase from 2006 to 2016, and the overall rate increased by almost 3% among women each year (NCHS, 2017). Deaths due to chronic liver disease in women 55 to 64 years old also increased over the past decade (NCHS, 2017). Postmenopausal women with decreased estrogen levels and increased testosterone as well as those with the polycystic ovarian syndrome are at a higher risk for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (Hörist-Kollmann, & Strametz-Juranek, 2018). Additionally, a diet of foods high in fructose, saturated fats, and trans-fats is associated with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (Ferolla et al., 2015). Both the restriction of carbohydrates, fats, increased exercise, and a 3 to 5% reduction of body weight decreases the risk of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (Ferolla et al., 2015).

Finally, COPD was the fourth leading cause of death among women in 2016 (NCHS, 2017). Annual direct costs for patients with COPD was about \$10,000 annually with societal costs of absenteeism, disability payments, and mortality was over \$30,000 per patient, suggesting the need for alternative resources to lower expenditures (Foo et al., 2016). The prevalence of COPD has varied by the state with the highest at about 10%

of the population (CDC, 2018b). Treatments that include self-management plans have been associated with increased health-related quality of life and reduced the number of respiratory-related hospital visits (Lenferink et al., 2017). COPD patients suffer from poor fitness, sedentary lifestyle, decreased cardiovascular function, and social isolation, making increasing physical activity an important part of a self-management plan (Corbridge & Nyemhuis, 2017).

# Well-Being and Yoga

Improving population health is a public health challenge. One of the 10 essential public health services is informing, educating, and empowering people about health outcomes that could increase the quality of life and prevent chronic diseases (CDC, 2014). Well-being is an integration of the self-perceived state of mental, physical, and social health that describes overall life satisfaction (CDC, 2018a). Public health scholars could use measures of well-being to guide population health promotion and disease prevention interventions.

The decline of personal well-being is a contemporary public health issue (Seib et al., 2014; Shern et al., 2016). The surgeon general identified emotional well-being and mental well-being as one of seven areas of focus for increased population health (Department of Health and Human Services, 2011). Emotional well-being encompasses the measure of various psychometrics, including levels of happiness, work-related satisfaction, and social purpose, which are linked with health outcomes (Feller et al., 2018). A combination of subjective well-being and objective measures such as

employment status and income could guide public health scholars in the development of health promotion and surveillance systems (CDC, 2018c).

Taneja (2014) stated that practicing the eight limbs or ethics of yoga, which include the postures, breathing, and meditation increased the level of an individual's health. The Yamas, restraints of yoga, included (a) non-violence, (b) truthfulness, (c) non-stealing, (d) nonexcess, and (e) non-possessiveness, and guided the yogi's interactions with the world around them (Taneja, 2014). The Niyamas, observances of yoga, included (a) purity, (b) contentment, (c) self-discipline, (d) self-study, and (e) surrender, and guided the yogi's interaction with the self (Taneja, 2014). The postures, also known as asanas, increased the stamina and focused the attention to the proper alignment of the bones and joints (Taneja, 2014). Taneja (2014) said that there were many types of pranayama or yogic breathing; participants experienced the ability to control the mind, increased concentration, and shifted the energy flow throughout the body. Meditation, also known as Dhyana, increased concentration and focus, or Dharana (Taneja, 2014). Samadhi was the state of bliss, calm in the eye of the storm, or connection with the divine (Taneja, 2014) Therefore yoga supported the increase of emotional, physical, social, and spiritual health (Cramer et al., 2017; Grensman et al., 2018; Park, Riley, & Braun, 2016).

Yoga was a CHA that more women used to increase well-being and treat a chronic disease (Clark et al., 2018: Johnson, Jou, Rhee, Rockwood, and Upchurch, 2016). CHA users were predominantly non-Hispanic white women that had health insurance, and yoga was the most commonly used CHA (Johnson et al., 2016). About 85% of CHA users said that the participation helped them to feel better and over 90% stated that CHA's were important for maintaining health and well-being (Johnson et al., 2016). Strowger, Kiken, and Ramcharran (2018) said that practicing mindful meditation promoted physical activity. Yoga increased the WHO-5 scores in middle-aged adults in cancer treatment (Haier et al., 2018). Cramer et al. (2017) stated that participants who occasionally practiced yoga were more likely to avoid behaviors associated with poor health such as smoking, alcohol use, and unhealthy diet. Cramer, Ward, Steel, Lauche, Dobos, and Zhang (2016) stated that about 31 million people in the United States had tried yoga and the most common reasons were for increased well-being and disease prevention.

## Women's Health and Yoga

Yoga may be an answer to the decline in well-being in the United States. The popularity of modern yoga has risen over the past several years (Clark et al., 2018). Clark et al. (2018) stated that over 14% of adult participants in the 2017 NHIS used yoga in the past year. Cramer et al. (2017) said that women who practiced yoga were more physically active, ate healthier diets, were less likely to smoke, and consumed alcohol at low to moderate levels. Women were more likely to participate in yoga through community and social connections, for general health, and as a CHA for a chronic illness (Wertman et al., 2016). Women's reasons for participating in yoga included increased muscular strength, weight loss, and spiritual practice (Wertman et al., 2016). Yoga participants also enjoyed a sense of belonging through group practice, and women were more interested in the effects of the mind-body connection (Wertman et al., 2016).

**Physical health.** Blackwell and Clark (2018) stated that about 18% of women in the United States get the recommended amount of aerobic and muscle building physical activity. In some areas of the United States, less than 10% of women were physically active (Blackwell & Clark, 2018). Yang and James (2016) said that a yoga intervention was a pathway to increasing the physical activity levels of obese women and that face to face yoga classes increased the feelings of support. Over 70% of yoga participants were female, and the reasons for participation in yoga included general wellness, disease prevention, improved immune function, improved sports performance, and improved memory or concentration (Cramer et al., 2016).

Strowger et al. (2018) stated that people who used meditation were more likely to participate in aerobic activity. Larson-Meyer (2016) said that the majority of yoga asanas were a light aerobic activity, but combinations of poses such as the Surya Namaskar or, Sun Salutations, increased yoga to a moderate aerobic level. Practicing asana sequences for 10 minutes could contribute to meeting the recommended activity requirements (Strowger et al., 2018). The type of transition between asanas affected the amount of energy expended during yoga (Strowger et al., 2018). Jumping or isometric contractions between asanas increased the amount of energy expended, and standing poses expended more energy than sitting during yoga (Strowger et al., 2018).

The muscle activation during the Sun Salutation sequences varied by level of expertise and participants could derive increased strength and stability as they continue to practice yoga (Ni, Mooney, Balachandran, Richards, Harriell, & Signorile, 2014). Asanas such as Chair pose and Warrior II strengthen the tibialis anterior, a muscle-related to fall prevention, ankle stability, and pain reduction in the ankle and foot (Ni et al., 2014). Ni et al. (2014) said that in the upward facing dog asana, participants activated the chest and abdominal muscles. Upward facing dog pose was therapeutic for those that spent extended hours working at a computer (Ni et al., 2014). The modification of the yoga asanas allowed for accessibility for all levels of muscular strength and endurance (Ni et al., 2014).

**Social cohesion.** Inequities in women's mortality rates were not only due to personal characteristics, but also contextual factors that exist throughout the United States. (Montez et al., 2016) Social cohesion was strongly associated with women's mortality rates and was at a similar level of influence as level of education (Montez et al., 2016). Park et al. (2016) said that yoga participants experienced a positive sense of community and a connection with others, more patience, increased mindfulness in daily interactions, more forgiveness for others, and better family relationships. Wertman et al. (2016) stated that those who started yoga at age 55 or older were more socially connected and were influenced by friends and family to practice yoga. Those that practiced yoga felt a connection to others in the class and viewed group yoga as a community experience (Wertman et al., 2016).

Discrimination based on size could impact social cohesion and could create a culture of exclusion in yoga classes (Pickett & Cunningham, 2017). Dimitrov Ulian et al. (2018) said that in the Health at Every Size intervention they focused on achieving a higher level of health instead of weight loss to encourage obese participants to adopt healthy behaviors. Health at Every Size promoted a healthier lifestyle that supported well-being despite body weight, and the participants achieved modest weight loss (Dimitrov Ulian et al., 2018). Pickett and Cunningham (2017) stated that creating a culture of inclusion in a yoga class encouraged overweight or obese participants. The culture of inclusion fostered a sense of community and allowed participants to be their authentic self (Pickett & Cunningham, 2017). Body-Positive Yoga leaders' intentions and language choices were important in creating an inclusive environment and building a sense of community in the yoga classes (Pickett & Cunningham, 2017). Pickett and Cunningham (2017) stated that programs like Body-Positive Yoga created an environment of acceptance and increased group cohesion.

**Mental health and work-related burnout.** Grensman et al. (2018) stated that women were more likely to feel the effects of emotional and physical exhaustion described as burnout. Women who practiced yoga for burnout had higher levels of emotional well-being, physical well-being, cognitive function, and sleep (Grensman et al., 2018). Grensman et al. (2018) said that in a 20-week intervention with participants on sick-leave due to work-related burnout the traditional yoga group had increased emotional well-being, physical well-being, cognitive function, sleep, and general health.

Abdin, Welch, Byron-Daniel, and Meyrick, (2017) stated that yoga as a workplace physical activity intervention could also increase mental well-being and that participants felt less stress, less anxious and a greater purpose in life. Gaiswinkler and Unterrainer (2016) said that the experience and depth of yoga practice increased the level of mental well-being and that yoga may improve mental health more than other types of physical activity. Since the decline of personal well-being impacts a large portion of the U.S. workforce, employers are searching for viable solutions (Kersemaekers et al., 2018).

Women dominate the teaching profession at about 80% of the educational workforce (Sutcher, Darling-Hammond, & Carver-Thomas, 2016). Hepburn and McMahon (2017) stated that teachers who participated in a five-week yoga pranayama breathing intervention gained increased work-life balance, reduced work-related stress, increased productivity at work, and created a culture of well-being among staff members. Gaiswinkler and Unterrainer (2016) stated that practicing mindfulness increased teachers' feelings of well-being and happiness. Telles et al. (2018) said that after completing a 15day residential yoga training, teachers had less anxiety and an increased level of wellbeing as compared to a non-yoga control group. Telles et al. (2018) said that teaching was a socially responsible occupation and that educators needed a yoga intervention to maintain positive mental well-being. Harris et al. (2014) stated that participating in a 16week yoga intervention increased teachers' ability to tolerate negative emotions, decreased work-related stress, and lowered morning cortisol levels. Bazzano, Anderson, Hylton, & Gustat (2018) stated that teachers who taught yoga in the classroom were able to maintain a higher level of equanimity during the workday. Therefore, promoting yoga as a women's population health intervention could improve the mental well-being of working women such as teachers (Bazzanao et al., 2018; Harris et al., 2014; Hepburn & McMahon, 2017 Telles et al., 2018).

**Fall prevention.** Having a lack of balance was a multi-dimensional issue that could impact an individual at any age or health status (Jeter, Moonaz, Bittner, &

Dagnelie, 2015). Subramaniam and Bhatt (2017) stated that during tasks that required both balance and cognitive function, yoga practitioners were able to maintain a higher level of balance control than non-practitioners. Yoga practitioners responded quicker to intentional balance control and had increased postural stability compared to nonpractitioners (Subramaniam and Bhatt, 2017). Patti et al. (2018) said that body swaying was higher for elderly adults and that a lack of postural stability was related to the decline of cognitive functioning and muscle strength. Hamrick, Mross, Christopher, & Smith (2017) stated that participants had a significant reduction in falls after they completed the yoga intervention and that there were statistically significant differences in body swaying, balance, gait assessment, and dynamic gait index.

Jeter et al. (2015) said that participants in a yoga intervention who were legally blind significantly increased the absolute center of pressure, a measure of postural control. The blind yoga participants increased their ability to rebalance during walking (Jeter et al., 2015). The yoga practice emphasized foot placement during balance poses that increased the participant's proprioception (Jeter et al., 2017). Jeter et al. (2017) stated that the participant's stability index increased which indicated that the yoga practice improved the participant's postural control.

The National Center for Injury Prevention and Control (2015) stated that when designing fall prevention interventions, public health scholars should identify a target audience, the level of interest in the activity, and determine the locations most convenient for participation. Smith et al. (2017) said that participants over the age of 59 were highly interested and attended over 80% of the yoga classes during the intervention. Hamrick et al. (2017) stated that barriers to participation for older adults included the cost of the classes, the perception of the difficulty of yoga, a lack of information about yoga, and the location of classes. Cramer et al. (2016) stated that age was a predictor of yoga participation and that the older a person was, the less likely they were to participate. The benefits of yoga in fall prevention justified the consideration of yoga as a population health intervention (Cramer et al., 2016).

Pain management. The current protocol for the medical treatment of pain propelled the opioid epidemic and unintentional poisoning death rate to alarming rates (Tick et al., 2018). In a thirteen-week Hatha yoga intervention, participants had a significant reduction of pain compared to the control group (Monson, Chismark, Cooper, & Krenik-Matejcek, 2017). In a four-week Iyengar yoga intervention, participants achieved a significant reduction in low back pain and increased health-related quality of life compared to the control group (Nambi, Inbasekaran, Khuman, Devi, Shanmugananth, & Jagannathan, 2014). Goode et al. (2016) stated that chronic low back pain affected personal well-being and that individuals could benefit from a yoga practice. Allende, Anandan, Lauche, and Cramer (2018) said that the reduction of non-specific neck pain varied among participants and that teaching patients about the possibility of fluctuation in pain could help individuals during a yoga intervention. In an eight-week Hatha yoga intervention for chronic knee pain due to osteoarthritis, there were statistically significant differences in the Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index scores between the yoga and control group (Cheung, Wyman, Resnick, & Savik, 2014). The CDC (2019b) recommended a plan of self-management and exercise for increasing

health-related quality of life for those suffering from osteoarthritis pain. Hatha yoga could be a part of the self-management and exercise plan to increase strength and flexibility in those with osteoarthritis (Zacharia, Taylor, Branscum, Cheney, Hofford, & Crowson, 2018). Goode et al. (2016) stated that there was a need for more research on the short and long-term effects of yoga for pain management.

Chronic disease. Chu, Gotink, Yeh, Goldie, and Hunink, (2016) stated that the risk factors for heart disease and MS were significantly reduced with a yoga intervention and were similar to the effects of aerobic exercise. Haider, Sharma, and Branscum, (2017) said that because patients could practice yoga at slow and low-intensity levels, those with the limitations due to heart disease could participate as compared to other higher intensity exercises. Posadzki, Cramer, Kuzdzal, Lee, and Ernst (2014) stated that participating in yoga could lower systolic blood pressure and diastolic blood pressure. Wolff, Brorsson, Midlöv, Sundquist, and Strandberg (2017) said that patients who participated in a yoga intervention for the reduction of hypertension enjoyed the benefits such as increased relaxation and improved flexibility. Yoga participants also experienced difficulties in integrating yoga into a daily routine (Wolff et al., 2017). Pullen, Seffens, and Thompson (2018) stated that future studies should focus on the energy expenditures for specific asanas and yoga styles before recommending a type of yoga for heart failure therapy. Yoga could be a way of managing hypertension and reducing the risks for heart disease, but public health scholars should complete more rigorous studies for confirmation (Chu et al., 2016; Haider et al., 2017; Posadzki et al., 2014; & Wolff et al., 2017).

Haier et al. (2018) stated that yoga could be an alternative way of improving the well-being of cancer patients. After completing ten 90-minute yoga sessions, 44 female and seven male participants with varying types of cancer scored higher on the WHO-5 questionnaire and scores were highly statistically significant for the study. Patients with lower WHO-5 scores pre-intervention had the most significant increase in postintervention (Haier et al., 2018). The patients reflected concerns and fears of not understanding what types of physical activity were safe and appropriate during and after cancer treatment (Haier et al., 2018). Zuo, Li, Gao, Yang, and Meng (2016) stated that yoga was a valuable tool in helping breast cancer patients who experienced negative emotional well-being during treatment. Yoga improved patients' anxiety, depression, perceived stress, and emotional well-being (Zuo et al., 2016). Rao et al. (2017) said that the breast cancer patients who practiced yoga consistently after surgery and during radiation had significantly decreased depression, symptom severity, and increased quality of life. The yoga intervention reduced the participant's anxiety, and yoga served as a supportive therapy during breast cancer treatment (Rao et al., 2017). Vadiraja et al. (2017) stated that participating in yoga significantly reduced cancer patient fatigue frequency, severity, and diurnal fatigue variability compared to supportive therapy. More randomized controls could validate the findings that yoga is beneficial for cancer patients (Haier et al., 2018; Rao et al., 2017; & Vadiraja et al., 2017; Zuo et al., 2016).

Kaminsky et al. (2017) stated that yoga breathing for COPD was related to increased exercise tolerance and that practicing pranayama would work well in a selfmanagement plan. Donesky, Selman, McDermott, Citron, and Howie-Esquivel (2017) said that in a pilot study of an 8-week, tele-yoga program for COPD and heart failure patients, shortness of breath and distress improved significantly in the yoga group. Overall depression and sleep disturbance in the yoga group improved while both worsened for the control group (Donesky et al., 2017). Tele-yoga participants were able to participate safely in the classes and enjoyed the intervention (Donesky et al., 2017; Selman, McDermott, Donesky, Citron, and Howie-Esquivel, 2015). More research trials could examine different doses of yoga for COPD and heart failure patient rehabilitation (Donesky et al., 2017; Kaminsky et al., 2017; Selman et al., 2015).

#### Summary

The major themes in the literature review indicate that yoga promotes well-being through increased feelings of cohesiveness and increased general health (Wertman et al., 2016). Yoga promotes physical, mental, and emotional well-being and is an effective CHA for chronic disease prevention and treatment (Wertman et al., 2016). Yoga is beneficial in pain management and increasing the quality of life for those suffering from chronic pain (Monson et al., 2017). Yoga, breathing and meditation practice reduces the anxiety that arises from the management of chronic diseases such as cancer (Haier et al., 2018; Rao et al., 2017; Vadiraja et al., 2017; Zuo et al., 2016). This study fills the gap in the literature on why public health could use yoga as a women's population health intervention to increase well-being and general health. The study also fills a gap in the research on examining yoga through the lens of public health. Chapter3 will present the research methods used in the study that includes the research design, rationale, and data analysis plan.

#### Chapter 3: Research Method

## Introduction

The purpose of this study was to explore whether yoga, breathing and meditation, hypertension, high cholesterol, BMI, being told to increase physical activity, age, and teaching as an occupation were associated with SRH among women in the United States. Secondary data from the 2017 NHIS were used to examine whether these factors predicted higher SRH. The gap in the literature was the exploration of the value of yoga in population health promotion and examining yoga through the lens of public health.

Chapter 3 includes the explanation of the study's design using secondary data and the methodology used in this study. Chapter 3 also includes the description of the sample population, the subpopulation, and the origin of the data collection instrument. The threats to validity and ethical considerations are also included in this chapter.

#### **Research Design and Rationale**

The HBM provided the theoretical framework for this cross-sectional study. The HBM suggests that when the perceived benefits of participating in a health behavior outweigh the barriers, behavior changes (Skinner et al., 2015). The HBM can be used to explain the increase in participation in yoga as women in the United States perceiving health benefits from practicing yoga. For instance, previous studies have demonstrated that participating in yoga, breathing exercises, and meditation is related to general wellbeing (Haier et al., 2018; Taneja, 2014; Wertman et al., 2016; Zuo et al., 2016). Studies on yoga interventions have also reported that practicing the components of yoga could reduce high blood pressure, lower BMI, improve cholesterol levels, and increase physical

activity (Chu et al., 2016; Leischner, 2015; Posadzki et al., 2014; Wolff et al., 2017). Further, teacher well-being was reported to increase after participating in yoga interventions (Bazzanao et al., 2018; Gaiswinkler & Unterrainer, 2016; Harris et al., 2014; Hepburn & McMahon, 2017; Telles et al., 2018). The age of the yoga participant might also be associated with well-being (Park, Braun, & Siegel, 2015).

## Methodology

#### **Sampling and Data Collection**

The Department of Health and Human Services, NCHS, and the U.S. Census Bureau developed and implemented the NHIS to track the health of the U.S. population since the late 1950s (CDC, 2019a). The NHIS was intended to increase the data available to research trends in health behaviors and outcomes across the U.S. population (CDC, 2019a). The current supplement to the questionnaire includes complementary and alternative medicine questions, which has created one of the largest population-based complementary and alternative medicine datasets available (CDC, 2019a), making the NHIS survey data appropriate for this study.

NHIS trained interviewers surveyed 32,617 households over 1 year (CDC, 2019a). The NCHS used a cross-sectional design with samples drawn from each state and the District of Colombia and used an area probability design that sampled clusters of noninstitutionalized civilian households (CDC, 2019a). The NCHS protected the anonymity of the participants by the Privacy Act of 1974, the Public Health Service Act, and the Confidential Information Protection and Statistical Efficiency Act (CDC, 2019a).

The NCHS protects the privacy of the participants from the Freedom of Information Act and court subpoenas (CDC, 2019a).

#### **Population and Participation**

The population of this study included the 14,646 women participants of the NHIS 2017 survey who were between the ages of 18 to 85 and older (NCHS, 2018). The largest racial group represented were White at 78%, followed by African Americans at 11%, Asian at 6%, American Indian and Alaskan Natives at 1%, and multiple races at 3% (NCHS, 2018). The total number of households interviewed in the 2017 NHIS was 32,617 with 78,132 persons (NCHS, 2018). The household response rate was 67%, and the number of adult samples was 26,742, with a 53% unconditional response rate (NCHS, 2018). The participants did not receive compensation for participation.

#### Instrumentation

The NHIS consisted of a core questionnaire and supplemental questions on specific health topics (CDC, 2019a). Although the core questionnaire collected details on health conditions and demographics, the supplemental questions were related to current health issues such as health behaviors, complementary and alternative medicines, and access to health care (CDC, 2019a). The 2017 NHIS included a complementary health supplement that added the following questions: practicing yoga, past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, and did meditation as a part of yoga into the sample adult questionnaire collected from one adult in each household (NCHS, 2018). Updates to the NHIS occurred every 10 to 15 years to maintain the collection of pertinent data (CDC, 2019a). This study used the sample adult file set Final Annual (WTFA\_SA),

which include poststratification adjustment (age-sex-race adjustments to census population control totals; NCHS, 2018).

## Operationalization

The dependent variable for SRH or perceived benefit variable had three levels, and the question was labeled AHSTATYR: health better, worse, or same compared with 12 months ago. The dependent variable used to determine female participants was labeled Sex, and the age range variable was labeled Age. The factor practiced yoga, past 12 months was labeled YTQU\_YG1, did breathing exercises as part of yoga was labeled YTQ\_BTY1, and did meditation as part of yoga was labeled YTQ\_MDy1. Teacher occupation was recoded from the detailed occupation classification labeled OCCP1. The factor had hypertension, past 12 months was labeled HYPR1; had high cholesterol, past 12 months was labeled CHLYR; told to increase physical activity, past 12 months was labeled DBHVPAY; and body mass index was labeled BMI. The covariate in the analysis was age and was labeled AGE.

#### **Data Analysis Plan**

I used a correlation, cross-sectional design to analyze secondary data. I used an ordinal logistic regression in SPSS to test for associations using data collected from the 2017 NHIS. I explored how well the factors of recommendations for increasing physical activity, having hypertension, having high cholesterol, practicing the components of yoga, teacher occupation, BMI category and age predicted the dependent variable SRH. I used a cumulative odds ordinal logistical regression with proportional odds to determine the effect of the factors and covariate on the level of SRH. I used SPSS version 25 software program using ordinal logistical regression. Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals were calculated with  $\alpha$  set a P < .05. The tests for each research question are shown in Table 1. Each variable was tested independently in a binary logistic regression on the dichotomized cumulative dependent variable categories since the sample was large (Laerd Statistics, 2015). The outcome of the analysis also explored whether any of the factors or covariate had a statistically significant effect on SRH. The study addressed the gap in public health research on the use of yoga by women as health-promoting behavior and how yoga impacted their overall health and well-being.

Table 1

Research question	Null hypothesis	Statistical procedure
RQ1. Are the factors practiced	There is no association between	Ordinal logistic regression
yoga past 12 months, did breathing	practicing yoga past 12 months, did	
exercises as a part of yoga,	breathing exercises as a part of	
practiced meditation as a part of	yoga, practiced meditation as a part	
yoga, teacher occupational status,	of yoga, teacher occupational status,	
and age factors that predict SRH?	age, and SRH.	
RQ2. Are the factors told to	There is no association told to	Ordinal logistic regression
increase physical activity past 12	increase physical activity past 12	
months, BMI, practiced yoga past	months, BMI, practiced yoga past	
12 months, did breathing exercises	12 months, did breathing exercises	
as a part of yoga, practiced	as a part of yoga, practiced	
meditation as a part of yoga factors	meditation as a part of yoga, and	
that predict SRH?	SRH.	
RQ3. Are the factors had	There is no association between had	Ordinal logistic regression
hypertension, past 12 months,	hypertension, past 12 months,	
practiced yoga past 12 months, did	practiced yoga past 12 months, did	
breathing exercises as a part of	breathing exercises as a part of	
yoga, practiced meditation as a part	yoga, practiced meditation as a part	
of yoga factors that predict SRH?	of yoga, and SRH.	
RQ4. Are the factors had high	There is no association between had	Ordinal logistic regression
cholesterol, past 12 months,	high cholesterol, past 12 months,	
practiced yoga past 12 months, did	practiced yoga past 12 months, did	
breathing exercises as a part of	breathing exercises as a part of	
yoga, practiced meditation as a part	yoga, practiced meditation as a part	
of yoga factors that predict SRH?	of yoga, and SRH.	

### Variables and Variable Recoding

The statistical analyses were filtered for female responses, Sex = 2. The variable descriptions are reported in detail in Table 1. The dependent variable in this study was health better/worse/same, compared with 12 months ago (AHSTATYR), which was recoded SRH. Respondents could answer *better*, *worse*, *about the same*, or *don't know*. The data were transformed into categories of *better*, *worse*, or *about the same* with *don't know*, *refused to answer*, and *not ascertained* categorized as system *missing*. Responses of *don't know*, *refused to answer*, and *not ascertained* totaled 26, which was less than .01% of the sample.

The factor practiced yoga, past 12 months (YTQU\_YG1), was recoded Yoga. Respondents could answer *yes*, *no*, or *don't know* if they had practiced yoga in the past 12 months. The data were transformed into a dichotomous variable (*yes* or *no*), whereas *don't know*, *refused to answer*, and *not ascertained* were categorized as *no*. There were 847 responses recoded as *no*, representing .03% of the sample. If the respondents answered *yes* to practiced yoga past 12 months, they were directed to the questions about breathing and meditation. The factor did breathing exercises as a part of yoga (YTQ\_BTY1) was recoded Breathing. Respondents could answer *yes*, *no*, or *don't know* if they did breathing exercises as a part of yoga. The data were transformed into a dichotomous variable (*yes* or *no*), whereas *don't know*, *refused to answer*, and *not ascertained* were categorized as *no*. There were four responses recoded as *no*, representing less than .001% of the sample. The factor did meditation as a part of yoga (YTQ\_MDY1) was recoded Meditation. Respondents could answer *yes*, *no*, or *don't* (yoga *ascertained*) were categorized as *no*. There were four responses recoded as *no*, representing less than .001% of the sample. The factor did meditation as a part of yoga (YTQ\_MDY1) was recoded Meditation. Respondents could answer *yes*, *no*, or *don't* (yoga (YTQ\_MDY1)) *know* if they did meditation as a part of yoga. The data were transformed into a dichotomous variable (*yes* or *no*), whereas *don't know*, *refused to answer*, and *not ascertained* were categorized as *no*. There were five responses recoded as *no*, representing less than .001% of the sample.

The factor teacher occupation (OCCP1) was recoded JobTeacher. The detailed occupation classification was based on the 2010 census codes that included three categories for teacher occupation. OCCP1 was recoded as 0 for occupations other than teaching, 1 for the postsecondary teacher; 2 for other education, training, and library; and 3 for primary, secondary, and special education (K-12).

The factor told to increase physical activity, past 12 months (DBHVPAY) was recoded IncreaseActivity. Respondents could answer *yes*, *no*, or *don't know* if they had been told to increase physical activity in the past 12 months. The data were transformed into a dichotomous variable (*yes* or *no*), whereas *don't know*, *refused to answer*, and *not ascertained* were categorized as *no*. There were 35 responses recoded as *no*, representing .001% of the sample.

The factor had hypertension, past 12 months (HYPYR1) was recoded HadHypyr. Respondents could answer *yes*, *no*, or *don't know* if they had hypertension in the past 12 months. The data were transformed into a dichotomous variable (*yes* or *no*), whereas *don't know*, *refused to answer*, and *not ascertained* were categorized as *no*. There were 29 responses recoded as *no*, representing .001% of the sample.

The factor had high cholesterol (CHLYR) was recoded HadHighChlyr. Respondents could answer *yes*, *no*, or *don't know* if they had high cholesterol in the past 12 months. The data were transformed into a dichotomous variable (*yes* or *no*), whereas *don't know*, *refused to answer*, and *not ascertained* were categorized as *no*. There were 197 responses recoded as *no*, representing .007% of the sample.

The factor BMI variable in NHIS was formulated with the answers to the questions of total height in inches and weight without shoes in pounds. The BMI variable was calculated using the formula weight/height squared. BMI was recoded as a categorical variable using underweight for BMI < 18.5, obese for BMI  $\geq$ 30, overweight for BMI  $\geq$ 25 to < 30, and healthy weight for BMI 18.5 < 25 (CDC, 2017b). There were 220 values for BMI coded as system missing, representing .02% of the sample. The covariate Age was recorded in the adult sample as 1-84 years or 85+ years. No recodes were necessary for age.

## Table 2

		Outcome (I	Dependent) Variable		
Variable	File Location,	Data Scale	Response	Question	Code
SRH	Question # Sample Adult AHS.060.00.000	Nominal	Option Better, Worse, About the same, Refused,	Compared with 12 MONTHS AGO, would you say your health is better, worse, or about the same?	AHSTATYR
Yoga	Sample Adult ACH.110_00.000	Nominal	Don't know Yes, No, Refused, Don't know	DURING THE PAST 12 MONTHS, did you practice Yoga for yourself?	YTQU_YG1
Breathing	Sample Adult ACH.120_00.000	Nominal	Yes, No, Refused, Don't know	Did you do breathing exercises as part of Yoga? Breathing exercises may involve actively controlling the way air is drawn in, or the rate or depth of breathing.	YTQ_BTY1
Meditation	Sample Adult ACH.130_00.000	Nominal	Yes, No, Refused, Don't know	Did you do meditation as a part of Yoga?	YTQ_MDY1
JobTeacher	Sample Adult ASD.090_00.000	Nominal	Verbatim response	Have you ever worked? If yes, what kind of business or industry was this? What kind of work were you doing?	OCCP1
HadHypertension	Sample Adult ACN.020_00.010	Nominal	Yes, No, Refused, Don't know	DURING THE PAST 12 MONTHS, have you had hypertension, also called high blood pressure?	HYPYR1
HadHighChlyr	Sample Adult ACN.023_00.020	Nominal	Yes, No, Refused, Don't know	DURING THE PAST 12 MONTHS, have you had high cholesterol?	CHLYR
IncreaseActivity	Sample Adult ACN.155_00.020	Nominal	Yes, No, Refused, Don't know	DURING THE PAST 12 MONTHS, have you been told by a doctor or health professional to do any of the followingIncrease your physical activity or exercise	DBHVPAY
BMI	Sample Adult AHB.200_02.000	Continuous	2 - 7 feet, 0 - 11 inches, 50 - 500 pounds, Refused, Don't know	Calculated from the questions: How tall are you without shoes? How much do you weigh without shoes	BMI
Age	Sample Adult, HHC.420_00.000	Continuous	Years, Refused, Don't know	How old are you?	AGE

# Variable Descriptions from 2017 National Health Interview Survey

*Note.* ACH = adult complementary health

#### **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

Research Question 1: Are the factors practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, teacher occupational status, and the covariate age factors that predict self-rated health?

 $H_11$ : There is an association between practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, teacher occupational status, age, and self-rated health.

 $H_01$ : There is no association between practicing yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, teacher occupational status, age, and self-rated health.

Research Question 2: Are the factors told to increase physical activity past 12 months, BMI, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga factors that predict self-rated health?

 $H_1$ 2: There is an association between told to increase physical activity past 12 months, BMI, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

 $H_02$ : There is no association told to increase physical activity past 12 months, BMI, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

Research Question 3: Are the factors had hypertension, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga factors that predict self-rated health?

 $H_1$ 3: There is an association between had hypertension, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

 $H_0$ 3: There is no association between had hypertension, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

Research Question 4: Are the factors had high cholesterol, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga factors that predict self-rated health?

 $H_1$ 4: There is an association between had had high cholesterol, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

 $H_04$ : There is no association between had high cholesterol, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

Verification of assumptions for statistical tests. Multicollinearity between independent variables was assessed through linear regression by the coefficient tolerance values. Proportional odds was assessed through binary logistic regression with a full likelihood ratio test comparing the fit of the proportional odds model to a model with varying location parameters. Both assumptions that are listed above are discussed further in chapter 4. Sample size estimate/power analysis. A power analysis was performed with G\*Power 3.1.9.2 for Windows (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, Lang, & Universität Düsseldorf, Germany, 2009). Using an a priori method selecting a medium-size effect for Pr(Y=1) H0=.2, with an alpha set at 0.05 (two-tailed) and an odds ratio set at 1.3. The power was calculated to be .95. The minimum sample size was calculated at 1188, which was below the total number of female respondents in the 2017 NHIS adult sample.

#### **Threats to Validity**

Threats to the internal validity of this study included the change in the Adult Complementary Health Supplement questions in the 2017 NHIS. The 2017 NHIS questions asked about the use of CHA in the past 12 months without inquiry about lifetime use (NCHS, 2018). Other threats to the internal validity included the selfreporting bias of the NHIS questionnaire. Threats to the external validity were minimized through the clustered samples within the counties, small groups of counties, or metropolitan area addresses (CDC. 2019a). The interpretation of practicing yoga, breathing, and meditation could also impact the external validity of the NHIS data.

## **Ethical Procedures**

The NCHS provided basic interviewer training relevant to the NHIS to the U.S. Census Bureau workers that collected the NHIS data (CDC, 2019a). Interviewers used computer-assisted personal interviewing software using a laptop to enter participant responses (CDC, 2019). The participants identities and personal information were protected and removed from all public use files (NCHS, 2018). The NHIS data release procedures protect the privacy of the participants (NCHS, 2018).

### **Summary**

This study used secondary data from the 2017 NHIS. NHIS is a national survey implemented yearly to track the U.S. health status, health behaviors, and information on contemporary health issues. This study addressed the gap in the literature through the exploration of how participating in yoga, breathing as a part of yoga, meditation as a part of yoga, health status, recommendations for increasing physical activity, BMI, age and teacher occupation; predict the level of better SRH. The NHIS collected data from cluster samples across the U.S. and the District of Columbia. The results of the ordinal logistical regression, proportional odds, frequencies, and statistical significance of the variables will be in Chapter 4.

### Chapter 4: Results

## Introduction

In this quantitative, cross-sectional study, I explored the association of practicing yoga, breathing, meditation, teacher occupation, age, being told to increase activity, BMI, hypertension, and high cholesterol with women's SRH. The perceived benefits of yoga, breathing exercises as a part of yoga, and meditation as a part of yoga as well as the perceived consequences of health outcomes were examined. Teaching as an occupation and age were also considered in determining the prediction of the answer to the question, "Compared with 12 months ago, would you say your health is better, worse, or about the same?" I used the data from the 2017 NHIS adult sample and included several statistical tests for assumptions of an ordinal logistic regression. The results of the analysis attempted to predict the probability of the dependent variable, SRH. The factors were practiced yoga, past 12 months; practiced breathing as a part of yoga; practiced meditation as a part of yoga; teacher occupation; told to increase physical activity; had hypertension, past 12 months; had high cholesterol, past 12 months; and BMI. The covariate was age.

Four research questions were asked to address the purpose of the study:

Research Question 1: Are the factors practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, teacher occupational status, and the covariate age factors that predict self-rated health?

 $H_11$ : There is an association between practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, teacher occupational status, age, and self-rated health.

 $H_01$ : There is no association between practicing yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, teacher occupational status, age, and self-rated health.

Research Question 2: Are the factors told to increase physical activity past 12 months, BMI, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga factors that predict self-rated health?

 $H_1$ 2: There is an association between told to increase physical activity past 12 months, BMI, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

 $H_02$ : There is no association told to increase physical activity past 12 months, BMI, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

Research Question 3: Are the factors had hypertension, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga factors that predict self-rated health?

 $H_1$ 3: There is an association between had hypertension, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

 $H_0$ 3: There is no association between had hypertension, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

Research Question 4: Are the factors had high cholesterol, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga factors that predict self-rated health?

 $H_1$ 4: There is an association between had had high cholesterol, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

 $H_04$ : There is no association between had high cholesterol, past 12 months, practiced yoga past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, practiced meditation as a part of yoga, and self-rated health.

Chapter 4 provides the descriptive statistics of the sample from the 2017 NHIS data used in the study and the results of the statistical tests in compliance with the assumptions that were necessary for the ordinal logistic regression. The chapter concludes with the presentation of the results of the data analysis, and the hypothesis testing and findings are organized by the research questions. Exact statistics, probability values, and effect sizes are detailed as appropriate. The chapter ends with a summary and transition to Chapter 5.

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

The dataset consisted of the Sample Adult file from the 2017 NHIS and included 14,646 female cases over the age of 18. All the female cases were included in the

analysis. Of those cases, 18% of women practiced yoga in the past 12 months. Of the 2,614 women who practiced yoga, 89% did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, and 57% did meditation as a part of yoga. Out of all the female cases, 36% had been told to increase physical activity. From the 4,461 female cases that included data on having hypertension in the past 12 months, 86% answered *yes*. Of the 4,505 female cases that included data on having high cholesterol in the past 12 months, 70% answered *yes*. The mean age of respondents was 52. There were 1,096 women categorized as teachers; 822 were K-12 teachers; 143 were other education, training, and library; and 131 were postsecondary teachers. Of the 14,426 female samples, 2% were underweight, 25% were obese, 27% were overweight, and 36% were at a healthy weight. An overview of the dependent variable, factors, and covariates are presented in Table 3.

## Table 3

# Demographics of Study Sample (n = 14,464) and Variable Frequencies

	Frequency	Percent
Sex = female	14,646	100
Yoga		
Yes	2,614	17.8
No	11,545	78.8
Breathing		
Yes	2,332	89.2
No	278	10.6
Meditation		
Yes	1,476	56.5
No	1,134	43.4
IncreaseActivity		
Yes	5,267	36
No	9,360	63.9
HadHypertension		
Yes	3,857	86.5
No	594	13.3
HadHighCholesterol		
Yes	3,172	70.4
No	1,232	27.4
JobTeacher		
Yes	1,096	7.5
No	13,550	92.5
BMI		
Underweight	331	2.3
Obese	5,044	34.4
Overweight	3,827	26.1
Healthy	5,224	35.7
Age		
Range = $67$		
Min. = 18		
Max. = 85+		
<i>SD</i> = 18.2		

#### **Assessment for Statistical Assumptions**

The statistical test used to determine the statistical assumption of multicollinearity was linear regression (Laerd Statistics, 2015). The test used for determining proportional odds was a full likelihood ratio test comparing the fit of the proportional odds model with varying location parameters (Laerd Statistics, 2015). Each test was completed, and variables were assessed for meeting the assumptions of the ordinal logistic regression. Table 4 displays the results of the linear regression for the factors and covariate in the study. The tolerance value for each factor was greater than .01, and the VIF values are much less than 10; therefore, there was no problem with collinearity in the dataset. Table 5 displays the results of the separate binomial logistic regressions for the factors and covariate in the study. The assumption of proportional odds was tenable since the parameter estimates were similar for all the factors and the covariate.

Table 4

Mui	ltical	lling	earity
<i>w</i>	ncoi	une	aniy

		Coefficients							
			Collinearity Statistics						
Model		Tolerance	VIF						
1	Yoga	.989	1.012						
	Breathing	.504	1.984						
	Meditation	.506	.977						
	Had high cholesterol	.926	1.080						
	Increase activity	.942	1.062						
	Had hypertension	.923	1.083						
	Job teacher	.995	1.005						
	BMI	.910	1.099						
	Age	.937	1.067						

## Table 5

	B (param	eter estimates)	Exp (B)				
Factor	SRH	SRH	SRH	SRH			
	worse or same	Better	worse or same	better			
Yoga	.220	220	1.246	.802			
Breathing	332	332	.717	.717			
Meditation	433	433	.649	.649			
Had high	.117	117	1.124	.889			
cholesterol							
Increase activity	247	.247	.781	1.280			
Had hypertension	.225	225	1.253	.798			
Job teacher							
Post Secondary	173	.173	.841	1.189			
Other Teacher	139	.139	.870	1.149			
K-12	063	.063	.939	1.066			
BMI							
Underweight	47	.47	.954	1.048			
Obese	.157	157	1.170	.855			
Overweight	.134	134	1.143	.875			
Healthy	.051	051	1.052	.951			
Age	.012	.012	1.012	.988			

## Results

## **Research Question 1 Ordinal Logistic Regression**

A cumulative odds ordinal logistic regression with proportional odds was run to investigate whether teacher occupation, age, and practiced yoga in the past 12 months were factors that predict SRH. The deviance goodness-of-fit test indicated that the model was a good fit to the observed data  $X^2$  (827) = 868.866, p = .152. The final model statistically significantly predicted the dependent variable over and above the interceptonly model,  $X^2$  (5) = 292.317, p < .001. The odds of practiced yoga in the past 12 months having higher SRH was .724, 95% CI [.660, .794] times that for did not practice yoga in the past 12 months  $x^2(1) = 46.532$ , p = .000. The teacher occupation had a statistically significant effect on the prediction of SRH  $x^2(3) = 10.265$ , p = .016. The odds of a teacher occupation having higher SRH was .797, 95% CI [.684,.928] times that for other occupations  $x^2(1) = 8.546$ , p = .003. An increase in age (expressed in years) was associated with an increase in the odds of having SRH better than 12 months ago, with an odds ratio of .986, 95% CI [.985,.988],  $x^2(1) = 188.428$ , p < .001.

## Table 6

Parameter Estimates										
									95% `	Wald
			95%	Wald					Confi	dence
			Confi	dence					Interv	al for
			Inte	rval	Hypotl	hesis T	est		Exp	(B)
					Wald					
		Std.			Chi-					
Parameter	В	Error	Lower	Upper	Square	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Practiced Yoga No	-	.0474	416	230	46.532	1	.000	.724	.660	.794
	.323									
Practiced Yoga Yes	$0^{\mathrm{a}}$							1		
Other Occupations	-	.0778	380	075	8.546	1	.003	.797	.684	.928
	.227									
Post-Secondary	-	.2017	431	.359	.032	1	.858	.965	.650	1.432
Teacher	.036									
Other Teacher	-	.1952	429	.336	.057	1	.811	.954	.651	1.399
	.047									
K-12 Teacher	0 <sup>a</sup>							1		
Age	-	.0010	016	012	188.428	1	.000	.986	.985	.988
	.014									

#### Research Question 1 Practiced Yoga

A cumulative odds ordinal logistic regression with proportional odds was also run to investigate whether teacher occupation, age, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, and did meditation as a part of yoga were factors that predict SRH. The deviance goodness-of-fit test indicated that the model was a good fit to the observed data  $X^2$ (1108) = 868.866, *p* = .165. The final model statistically significantly predicted the dependent variable over and above the intercept-only model,  $X^2$  (6) = 294.993, *p* <.001. The odds of did breathing as a part of yoga having higher SRH was .844, 95% CI [.731, .974] times that for did not do breathing as a part of yoga  $x^2(1) = 5.382$ , p = .020. The odds of did meditation as a part of yoga having higher SRH was .784, 95% CI [.660, .930] times that for did not do meditation as a part of yoga  $x^2(1) = 7.799$ , p = .005. The teacher occupation had a statistically significant effect on the prediction of SRH  $x^2(3) = 10.265$ , p = .016. The odds of teacher occupation having higher SRH was .796, 95% CI [.683,.927] times that for other occupations  $x^2(1) = 8.546$ , p = .003. An increase in age (expressed in years) was associated with an increase in the odds of having SRH better than 12 months ago, with an odds ratio of .986, 95% CI [.984,.988],  $x^2(1) = 190.711$ , p < .001.

Table 7

					er Estimates					
95% Wald										
			Confic	lence					95% Wald C	onfidence
			Inter	val	Hypothes	is T	`est		Interval for	Exp(B)
		Std.			Wald Chi-					
Parameter	В	Error	Lower	Upper	Square	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Other	-	.0778	381	076	8.600		.003	.796	.683	.927
professions	.228									
Post-	-	.2017	431	.359	.032	1	.858	.965	.650	1.432
Secondary	.036									
Teacher										
Other Teacher	-	.1952	432	.334	.063	1	.802	.952	.649	1.396
	049									
K-12 Teacher	$0^{\mathrm{a}}$							1		
Age	.014	.0010	016	012	190.711	1	.000	.986	.984	.988
Did breathing	170	.0731	313	026	5.382	1	.020	.844	.731	.974
No										
Did breathing	$0^{a}$							1		
Yes										
Did Meditation	.244	.0873	415	073	7.799	1	.005	.784	.660	.930
No										
Did Meditation	$0^{a}$							1		
Yes										

## Research Question 1 Breathing and Meditation

## **Research Question 2 Ordinal Logistic Regression**

A cumulative odds ordinal logistic regression with proportional odds was run to investigate whether told to increase activity, BMI category and practiced yoga in the past 12 months, were factors that predict SRH was conducted. The final model statistically significantly predicted the dependent variable over and above the intercept-only model,  $X^2$  (4) = 114.892, *p* <.001. The odds of practiced yoga in the past 12 months having higher SRH was .635, 95% CI [.579, .697] times that for did not practice yoga in the past 12 months  $x^2(1) = 91.395$ , *p* = .000. The odds of not being told to increase activity having higher SRH was 1.079, 95% CI [.998, 1.167] times than for being told to increase activity  $x^2(1) = 3.608$ , *p* = .05. BMI had a statistically significant effect on the prediction of SRH  $x^2(3) = 18.780$ , *p* = .000. The odds of a healthy weight BMI having higher SRH was .735, 95% CI [.575, .939] times that for being underweight  $x^2(1) = 6.052$ , *p* = .014. The odds of a healthy BMI having higher SRH was .911, 95% CI [.832, .997] times that for being obese  $x^2(1) = 4.089$ , *p* = .043.

## Table 8

## Research Question 2 Practiced Yoga

			Par	ameter E	stimates					
										Wald
			95%	Wald					Confi	lence
			Confi	dence					Interv	al for
			Inter	rval	Hypoth	nesis T	'est		Exp	(B)
					Wald					
		Std.			Chi-					
Parameter	В	Error	Lower	Upper	Square	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Increase Activity NO	.076	.0400	002	.154	3.608	1	.058	1.079	.998	1.167
Increase Activity	$0^{a}$	•			•			1		
Yes										
Practiced Yoga No	454	.0475	547	361	91.395	1	.000	.635	.579	.697
Practiced Yoga Yes	$0^{a}$	•			•			1		
BMI Underweight	308	.1251	553	063	6.052	1	.014	.735	.575	.939
BMI Obese	093	.0461	183	003	4.089	1	.043	.911	.832	.997
BMI Overweight	.076	.0470	016	.169	2.646	1	.104	1.079	.984	1.184
BMI Healthy Weight	0 <sup>a</sup>					•		1		

A cumulative odds ordinal logistic regression with proportional odds was run to investigate whether being told to increase activity, BMI category, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, and did meditation as a part of yoga were factors that predict SRH was conducted. The final model statistically significantly predicted the dependent variable over and above the intercept-only model,  $X^2$  (6) = 486.594, *p* <.001. The odds of did breathing as a part of yoga having higher SRH was .752, 95% CI [.651, .869] times that for did not do breathing as a part of yoga  $x^2(1) = 14.957$ , *p* = .000. The odds of did meditation as a part of yoga having higher SRH was .766, 95% CI [.644, .910] times that for did not do meditation as a part of yoga  $x^2(1) = 9.206$ , *p* = .002. The odds of not being told to increase activity having higher SRH was 1.077, 95% CI [.996, 1.165] times than for being told to increase activity  $x^2(1) = 3.450$ , *p* = .063. BMI had a statistically significant effect on the prediction of SRH  $x^2(3) = 19.036$ , *p* = .000. The odds of a healthy BMI having higher SRH was .729, 95% CI [.571, .932] times that for being underweight  $x^2(1) = 6.378$ , p = .012. The odds of a healthy weight BMI having higher SRH was .905, 95% CI [.827, .991] times that for being obese  $x^2(1) = 4.676$ , p = .031.

## Table 9

		Paramete	er Estimate	s			
		95% Confidence Interval					
		Std.				Lower	Upper
	Estimate	Error	Wald	df	Sig.	Bound	Bound
Increase Activity	.074	.040	3.450	1	.063	004	.153
Yes							
Increase Activity	$0^{a}$			0			
No							
BMI Underweight	316	.125	6.378	1	.012	561	071
BMI Obese	099	.046	4.676	1	.031	190	009
BMI Overweight	.070	.047	2.209	1	.137	022	.162
BMI Healthy	$0^{\mathrm{a}}$			0			
weight							
Did Breathing No	285	.074	14.957	1	.000	430	141
Did Breathing Yes	$0^{\mathrm{a}}$			0			
Did Meditation No	267	.088	9.206	1	.002	440	095
Did Meditation Yes	$0^{a}$			0			

## Research Question 2 Breathing and Meditation

## **Research Question 3 Ordinal Logistic Regression**

A cumulative odds ordinal logistic regression with proportional odds was run to investigate whether had hypertension in the past 12 months and practiced yoga in the past 12 months, were factors that predict SRH was conducted. There were proportional odds, as assessed by a full likelihood ratio test comparing the fitted model to a model with varying location parameters,  $X^2$  (2) = 4.173, p = .124. The deviance goodness-of-fit test indicated that the model was a good fit to the observed data  $X^2$  (4) = 4.286, p = .369. The final model statistically significantly predicted the dependent variable over and above the intercept-only model,  $X^2(2) = 31.380$ , p < .001. The odds of practiced yoga in the past 12 months having higher SRH was .689, 95% CI [.554, .855] times that for not practiced yoga in the past 12 months  $x^2(1) = 11.372$ , p = .001. The odds of not had hypertension in the past 12 months having higher SRH was .676, 95% CI [.565, .809] times that for had hypertension in the past 12 months  $x^2(1) = 18.238$ , p = .000.

## Table 10

Parameter Estimates											
									95% Wald		
	95% Wald								Confidence		
		Confidence							Interval for		
			Inte	rval	Hypothesis Test				Exp(B)		
			Wald								
		Std.			Chi-						
Parameter	В	Error	Lower	Upper	Square	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper	
Had Hypertension Yes	-	.0916	571	212	18.238	1	.000	.676	.565	.809	
	.391										
Had Hypertension No	0 <sup>a</sup>							1			
Practiced Yoga No	-	.1107	590	156	11.372	1	.001	.689	.554	.855	
	.373										
Practiced Yoga Yes	0 <sup>a</sup>	•	•					1			

Research Question 3 Practiced Yoga

A cumulative odds ordinal logistic regression with proportional odds was run to investigate whether had hypertension in the past 12 months, did breathing exercises as a part of yoga, and did meditation as a part of yoga were factors that predict SRH was conducted. There were proportional odds, as assessed by a full likelihood ratio test comparing the fitted model to a model with varying location parameters,  $X^2$  (3) = 6.844, p = .077. The deviance goodness-of-fit test indicated that the model was a good fit to the observed data  $X^2$  (11) = 14.158, p = .224. The final model statistically significantly predicted the dependent variable over and above the intercept-only model,  $X^2$  (3) = 28.443, p <.001. The odds of did breathing as a part of yoga having higher SRH was .882, 95% CI [.625, 1.244] times that for did not do breathing as a part of yoga  $x^2(1) =$ .512, p = .474. The odds of did meditation as a part of yoga having higher SRH was .740, 95% CI [.479, 1.142] times that for did not do meditation as a part of yoga  $x^2(1) = 1.850$ , p = .174. The odds of not had hypertension in the past 12 months having higher SRH was .675, 95% CI [.564, .808] times that for had hypertension in the past 12 months  $x^2(1) =$ 18.371, p = .000.

# Table 11

### Research Question 3 Breathing and Meditation

Parameter Estimates											
										95% Wald	
		95% Wald							Confidence		
			Confidence						Interv	al for	
			Inte	rval	Hypothesis Test				Exp(B)		
					Wald						
		Std.			Chi-						
Parameter	В	Error	Lower	Upper	Square	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper	
Had Hypertension Yes	-	.0916	572	213	18.371	1	.000	.675	.564	.808	
	.393										
Had Hypertension No	$0^{a}$				•			1		•	
Did Breathing	-	.1756	470	.219	.512	1	.474	.882	.625	1.244	
Exercises No	.126										
Did Breathing	$0^{a}$				•			1		•	
Exercises Yes											
Did Meditation No	-	.2216	736	.133	1.850	1	.174	.740	.479	1.142	
	.301										
Did Meditation Yes	0 <sup>a</sup>							1		•	

# **Research Question 4 Ordinal Logistic Regression**

A cumulative odds ordinal logistic regression with proportional odds was run to investigate whether had high cholesterol in the past 12 months and practiced yoga in the past 12 months, were factors that predict SRH was conducted. The final model statistically significantly predicted the dependent variable over and above the interceptonly model,  $X^2(2) = 60.853$ , p < .001. The odds of practiced yoga in the past 12 months having higher SRH was .582, 95% CI [.484, .701] times that for not practiced yoga in the past 12 months  $x^2(1) = 32.569$ , p = .000. The odds of not had high cholesterol in the past 12 months having higher SRH was .814, 95% CI [.708, .936] times that for had high cholesterol in the past 12 months  $x^2(1) = 8.316$ , p = .004.

# Table 12

# Research Question 4 Practiced Yoga

Parameter Estimates											
									95% Wald		
	95% Wald								Confidence		
	Confidence								Interval for		
		Std.	Interval Hypothesis Test Wald Chi-						Exp(B)		
Parameter	В		Lower	Upper	Square	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper	
Practiced Yoga No	-		726	355	32.569	1	.000	.582	.484	.701	
-	.541										
Practiced Yoga Yes	$0^{a}$							1			
Had High Cholesterol	-	.0714	346	066	8.316	1	.004	.814	.708	.936	
Yes	.206										
Had High Cholesterol No	0 <sup>a</sup>	•						1		•	

A cumulative odds ordinal logistic regression with proportional odds was run to investigate whether had high cholesterol in the past 12 months, practiced breathing exercises as a part of yoga, and practiced meditation as a part of yoga were factors that predict SRH was conducted. The final model statistically significantly predicted the dependent variable over and above the intercept-only model,  $X^2(3) = 42.829$ , p < .001. The odds of did breathing exercises as a part of yoga having higher SRH was .739, 95% CI [.554, 987] times that for not did breathing exercises as a part of yoga  $x^2(1) = 4.211$ , p = .040. The odds of did meditation as a part of yoga having higher SRH was .677, 95% CI [.473, .986] times that for not did meditation as a part of yoga past 12 months  $x^2(1) = 4.575$ , p = .032. The odds of not had high cholesterol in the past 12 months having higher SRH was .815, 95% CI [.708, .937] times that for had high cholesterol in the past 12 months  $x^2(1) = 8.217$ , p = .004.

# Table 13

## Research Question 4 Breathing and Meditation

			Para	ameter Es	timates							
										95% Wald		
	95% Wald								Confidence			
			Confidence							Interval for		
			Inte	rval	Hypothesis Test				Exp(B)			
					Wald							
		Std.			Chi-							
Parameter	В	Error	Lower	Upper	Square	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper		
Had High Cholesterol	-	.0715	345	065	8.217	1	.004	.815	.708	.937		
Yes	.205											
Had High Chol No	$0^{\mathrm{a}}$							1				
Did Breathing No	-	.1473	591	014	4.211	1	.040	.739	.554	.987		
-	.302											
Did Breathing Yes	$0^{\mathrm{a}}$							1				
Did Meditation No	-	.1826	748	033	4.575	1	.032	.677	.473	.968		
	.391											
Did Meditation Yes	0 <sup>a</sup>							1				

### **Summary**

This study explored the associations of the factors and covariate to the dependent variable of SRH. Women were more likely to have higher SRH if they practiced yoga, breathing, meditation, and were teachers. Thus, the null hypothesis for research question one was rejected. The participants who were not told by a Doctor to increase activity had a healthy weight BMI and practiced the components of yoga were also more likely to have higher SRH. The null hypothesis for research question two was rejected. Not having hypertension and practicing the yoga components were associated with SRH. Thus, the null hypothesis for research question three was rejected. Participants who did not have high cholesterol and practiced the components of yoga were more likely to have higher SRH. Therefore, the null hypothesis for research question four was rejected.

Chapter five will provide an interpretation of the research findings. A review of the findings in the context of the current literature will be presented. Limitations of the study and implications for social change will also be presented in Chapter five. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

#### Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore whether practicing the components of yoga, recommendations for increasing activity, age, teacher occupation, BMI, hypertension, and high cholesterol could predict SRH. Women in the United States have a higher mortality rate than women in other high-income countries and suffer from higher rates of drug overdose, suicide, heart disease, and cancer (The National Institute of Health Office of Research on Women's Health, 2019). But researchers have shown that those who practiced yoga had increased general well-being and lower rates of chronic diseases (Haier et al., 2018; Cramer et al., 2017; Cramer et al., 2016). Yoga has also decreased work-related burnout (Grensman et al., 2018). Teachers who participated in yoga have had a higher sense of well-being and decreased levels of work-related stress (Hepburn & McMahon, 2017). Thus, researchers identified a need for more public health research on yoga as a population health intervention (Bazzanao et al., 2018; Hepburn & McMahon, 2017; Harris et al., 2014; Telles et al., 2018).

The data were analyzed using ordinal logistical regression. Results indicated that practicing the components of yoga was associated with higher SRH. Teaching as an occupation was associated with higher SRH, and as age increased, so did the odds of better SRH. Results also revealed that those with a healthy BMI did not have hypertension, did not have high cholesterol, and were not told by a doctor to increase activity had higher odds of having better SRH. The following sections of Chapter 5 contain the interpretation of the findings, the limitations of the study, the recommendations for future research, the implications for social change, and the conclusion of the study

# **Interpretation of findings**

### **Research Question 1**

In this research, yoga, breathing, meditation, were predictors of higher SRH. The results were similar to previous researchers who found that those who practiced yoga had increased general well-being (Atkinson & Prmuth-Levine, 2009; Birdee et al., 2017; Cramer et al., 2016; Kabiri et al., 2018; Leischner, 2015; Wertman et al., 2016). Additionally, several studies have also included regression analyses to determine predictors of SRH in women (Lee & Short, 2017; von der Lippe, & Rattay, 2016; Wertman et al., 2016; Yamashita, Bardo, Liu, & Yoo, 2019;). Recent research supports this study's findings that mind–body practices were associated with higher SRH (Pandya, 2019; & Wertman et al., 2016). For example, Radmark, Hanson, Horwitz, and Osika (2017) found that those who practiced mind–body exercises such as yoga had lower SRH, which is why doctors in Sweden often prescribe mind–body exercises for patients suffering from poor mental well-being.

The results also indicated that increased age was associated with predicting higher SRH. This is supported by previous research such as Janus and Smrokowska-Reichmann (2018), who stated that older women associated health as the most important factor in increased happiness and well-being, which they improved through activities like attending classes for seniors and making new connections with others. Park et al. (2015) also stated that practicing yoga increased the ability to be in the moment and fostered a

sense of connection to others. Further, Jackson (2005) said that times when a person is grounded in the here and now could increase happiness and well-being.

Finally, the results for Research Question 1 suggested that teaching as an occupation was a predictor of higher SRH than other occupations. Previous research also supported this finding. The CDC (2018d) stated that opportunities that increase social connection in the workplace help to promote a feeling of well-being, which teaching can include. According to Abdin et al. (2017), workplace wellness yoga interventions could increase participants' well-being through connection with a greater purpose. Therefore, the findings were congruent with the existing research.

## **Research Question 2**

The results of the analysis indicated that practicing the components of yoga, BMI category, and being told to increase activity were predictors of SRH. For instance, women who participate in yoga are more likely to be more physically active (Cramer et al., 2017; Kabiri et al., 2018; Strowger et al., 2017). Yoga may be a platform for increasing activity in people with overweight or obese BMI (Yang & James, 2014). Recent research has shown that participating in yoga improves BMI (Haider et al., 2017; Larson-Meyer, 2016; Leischner, 2015).

In this study, being told by a doctor to increase physical activity was associated with lower SRH. Keyvanara, Karimi, Mohamadi, and Bahrami (2017) stated that those with chronic disease may increase physical activity due to doctor's recommendations, and older patients can benefit from the asanas of yoga to increase strength and balance. Further, Johnson et al. (2018) said participants that retirees were more likely to follow doctor's recommendations for increasing physical activity because of perceived benefits to health and well-being. Older adults choose to follow recommendations as a way of restructuring goals, increasing social interactions, and increasing longevity (Johnson et al., 2018). Although most physicians do not give physical activity counseling for general health, about 95% recommend an increase in activity for patients with chronic disease (Alahmed & Lobelo, 2019). Therefore, the results in this study related to being told to increase physical activity by a doctor could be confounded by having a chronic disease.

### **Research Question 3**

The results of Research Question 3 indicated an association between practicing the components of yoga, having hypertension, and SRH. Those who practiced the components of yoga and those who did not have hypertension were more likely to have higher SRH. These data support the recent findings that those who practice yoga are less likely to have hypertension and that practicing yoga can reduce the risks of hypertension (Chu et al., 2016; Posadzki et al., 2014; Pullen et al., 2018).

Those with heart disease are more at risk for death and disability and states as well as local governments should invest in prevention strategies (Chowdhury et al., 2016). For example, yoga, breathing, and meditation practices are appropriate for those suffering from heart disease, and there is potential for yoga as a cardiovascular disease intervention (Haider et al., 2016). Those with hypertension could reduce blood pressure with yogic breathing exercises (Telles et al., 2019). Additionally, Sharma, Pailoor, Choudhary Ram, and Shrestha (2019) suggested that yoga was appropriate for those

rehabilitating from a heart attack and that yoga could be incorporated into cardiac rehabilitation. Therefore, the results of the analysis were supported by recent literature.

# **Research Question 4**

Research question four explored the association between practicing the components of yoga, had high cholesterol, and SRH. Practicing yoga, breathing, and meditation, as well as not having high cholesterol, were associated with higher SRH. While high cholesterol is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease, low cholesterol levels could be a risk for suicide. Gupta (2016) said that while statins were commonly prescribed for high cholesterol, yoga may be a better option for mental well-being and emotional well-being. Lau, Yu, and Woo, (2015) stated that in a 12-week Hatha yoga intervention, participants in the yoga group reduced waist size, fasting glucose, triglycerides, and risk for metabolic syndrome.

Cham, Koslik, & Golomb (2016) said that statins prescribed for lowering cholesterol caused mood and behavioral changes that led to aggression and suicide. Daray, Mann, Sublette (2018) stated that there might be a link to low cholesterol and suicide risk. Azami, Ahmadi, YektaKooshali, & Qavam, (2019) said that after participating in a 26-week yoga intervention, the women had lower total cholesterol and lower LDL cholesterol. Yoga could be a low-cost intervention for the reduction of cholesterol in women (Azami et al., 2019). The recent literature supports the results found in this study that yoga could be used in a women's population health intervention.

#### Limitations of the Study

The limitations of the study and threats to the validity may be due to the crosssectional design, the survey questions, and self-reporting in the survey. Recall bias could influence the self-reporting of participation in yoga, breathing, and meditation, selfreporting of health outcomes, and SRH could also be influenced by recall bias. A limitation of the survey questions included the participant's comprehension of the questions. The boundaries of this study were limited to the NHIS definition of yoga, breathing exercises, and meditation. The survey did not collect the type of yoga that the participant practiced. Another limitation of the findings in this study could include confounding variables.

#### Recommendations

Findings of this research study and other recent studies in the literature review report that yoga is a popular CHA that increases general well-being and decreases the risk of chronic disease. Future public health research could focus on developing yoga recommendations for women of all ages, with or without chronic disease. Future public health research could also provide guidelines for yoga protocols for those with chronic conditions such as heart disease, cancer, pain, and obesity. Future research on using yoga in workplace wellness programs could provide employers with recommendations on increasing the well-being of employees. More yoga research is needed in other occupations and underserved groups in low socioeconomic status that suffer from high rates of chronic disease and mortality. Future findings could influence policy changes that open opportunities for funding low-cost yoga programs. The NIH partnered with the Center of Excellence for Research on Complementary and Integrative Health and could provide funding for future yoga research through grant opportunities (NIH, 2019). NCCIH has prioritized funding of mind-body research as well as pain research (NCCIH, 2019).

#### **Implications for Social Change**

Implications for positive social change as a result of the findings of this study include an increase in yoga-based public health research, the integration of yoga as a women's health intervention, increased funding opportunities for yoga-based public health research, funding opportunities for yoga practitioners in providing low-cost yoga, and increased use of yoga-based workplace wellness interventions. This research could change the focus of public health research to include CHAs in population-based health promotion and interventions. Women in the United States participate in yoga to increase general well-being, physical activity, social cohesion, mental well-being, and emotional well-being. This research could inform policymakers, key stakeholders, employers, medical practitioners, and yoga practitioners on the potential benefits of yoga as a women's population health intervention.

#### Conclusion

Women in the United States suffer from different chronic diseases than women of other high-income countries, and public health could help women through recommendations for participation in yoga. While personal well-being has declined, emotional well-being and mental well-being are a public health priority. Results of this study found that practicing the components of yoga and living free from chronic diseases increases SRH. Recent research has shown that participating in yoga reduces the risk of chronic diseases and increases the health-related quality of life in those that have a chronic disease. Participating in yoga, breathing, and meditation can be a low-cost CHA that not only improves well-being but encourages women to find healing powers within themselves. Yoga promotes healthy choices that lead to higher SRH and increased health-related quality of life. Public health researchers should implement rigorous yoga-based studies to investigate how yoga could help women in the United States thrive and live healthier lives. Public health stakeholders should use the findings of this research to further the goal of improving population health through the recommendations for policy change in promoting the health of the country.

#### References

- Abdin, S., Welch, R. K., Byron-Daniel, J., & Meyrick, J. (2017). The effectiveness of physical activity interventions in improving well-being across office-based workplace settings: A systematic review. *Public Health*, *160*(2018), 70-76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2018.03.029
- Alahmed, Z., & Lobelo, F. (2019). Correlates of physical activity counseling provided by physicians: A cross-sectional study in Eastern Province, Saudi Arabia. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(7), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220396
- Allende, S., Anandan, A., Lauche, R., & Cramer, H. (2018). Effect of yoga on chronic non-specific neck pain: An unconditional growth model. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 40(2018), 237-242.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2017.11.018

Assari, S., Lankarani, M. M., & Burgard, S. (2016). Black–white difference in long-term predictive power of self-rated health on all-cause mortality in United States. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 26(2016),106-114.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2015.11.006

- Atkinson, N. L., & Permuth-Levine, R. (2009). Benefits, barriers, and cues to action of yoga practice: A focus group approach. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 33(1), 3-14. https://doi.org/10.5993/ajhb.33.1.1
- Azami, M., Ahmadi, M. R., YektaKooshali, M. H., & Qavam, S. (2019). Effect of yoga on lipid profile and c-reactive protein in women. *International Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 10, 1-5. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijpvm.ijpvm\_487\_17

- Bazzano, A. N., Anderson, C. E., Hylton, C., & Gustat, J. (2018). Effect of mindfulness and yoga on quality of life for elementary school students and teachers: Results of a randomized controlled school-based study. *Psychology Research and Behavior Management*, 11, 81-89. https://doi.org/10.2147/prbm.s157503
- Berezin, M., & Lamont, M. (2016). Mutuality, mobilization, and messaging for health promotion: Toward collective cultural change. *Social Science & Medicine*, 165(2018), 201-205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.07.040
- Birdee, G. S., Ayala, S. G., & Wallston, K. A. (2017). Cross-sectional analysis of healthrelated quality of life and elements of yoga practice. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 17(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-017-1599-1
- Blackwell, D. L., & Clarke, T. C. (2018). State variation in meeting the 2008 federal guidelines for both aerobic and muscle-strengthening activities through leisure-time physical activity among adults aged 18–64: United States 2010–2015 (Report No. 112). Retrieved from Centers of Disease Control and Prevention website: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr112.pdf
- Bryła, M., Szymocha, M., & Maniecka-Bryła, I. (2015). Determinants of self-rated health of a working population. *Medycyna Pracy*, 66(1), 17-28. https://doi.org/10.13075/mp.5893.00103
- Burkert, N. T., Raml, R., Beier, N., & Freidl, W. (2015). Differentiating health statuses using positive health indicators in an occupational context. *Public Health*, 129(9), 1179-1186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2015.05.015

Burns, E. R., Stevens, J. A., & Lee, R. (2016). The direct costs of fatal and non-fatal falls

among older adults - United States. *Journal of Safety Research*, 58(2016), 99-103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2016.05.001

- Casucci, T., & Baluchi, D. (2019). A health sciences library promotes wellness with free yoga. *Journal of the Medical Library Association*, 107(1), 80-88. https://doi.org/10.5195/jmla.2019.475
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). Introduction to public health. In *Public health 101 series*. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017a) Women and heart disease fact sheet. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/data\_statistics/fact\_sheets/fs\_women\_heart.htm

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017b). About adult BMI. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/adult\_bmi/index.html#Interpret edAdults
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018a) Cancer prevention and control. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/dcpc/prevention/other.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018b). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/copd/data.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018c). Health-related quality of life

(HRQOL): Well-being concepts. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/hrqol/wellbeing.htm

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018d). Vital signs. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/suicide/index.html

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019a). National Health Interview Survey. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/index.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019b). Osteoarthritis. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/arthritis/basics/osteoarthritis.htm
- Cham, S., Koslik, H. J., & Golomb, B. A. (2016). Mood, personality, and behavior changes during treatment with statins: A case series. *Drug Safety - Case Reports*, 3, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40800-015-0024-2
- Cheung, C., Wyman, J. F., Resnick, B., & Savik, K. (2014). Yoga for managing knee osteoarthritis in older women: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *14*(160), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6882-14-160
- Chowdhury, P. P., Mawokomatanda, T., Xu, F., Gamble, S., Flegel, D., Pierannunzi, C., .
  .. Town, M. (2016). Surveillance for certain health behaviors, chronic diseases, and conditions, access to health care, and use of preventive health services among states and selected local areas Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, United States, 2012. *MMWR Surveillance Summaries, 65*(4), 1-139. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss6504a1
- Chu, P., Gotink, R. A., Yeh, G. Y., Goldie, S. J., & Hunink, M. G. (2016). The effectiveness of yoga in modifying risk factors for cardiovascular disease and metabolic syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, 23(3), 291-307.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2047487314562741

- Clark, T. C., Barnes, P. M., Black, L. I., Stussman, B. J., & Nahin, R. L. (2018). Use of yoga, meditation and chiropractors among US adults aged 18 and over (NCHS Data Brief, no. 325). Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics.
- Clark, D., Schumann, F., & Mostofsky, S. H. (2015). Mindful movement and skilled attention. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 9(297), 1-23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2015.00297
- Corbridge, S. J., & Nyenhuis, S. M. (2017). Promoting physical activity and exercise in patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, 13(1), 41-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nurpra.2016.08.022
- Cohen, L., & Chehimi, S. (2012). The imperative for primary prevention. In L. Cohen (Ed.) *Prevention is primary* (pp. 3-31) Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Cramer, H., Ward, L., Saper, R., Fishbein, D., Dobos, G., & Lauche, R. (2015). The safety of yoga: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 182(4), 281-293. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwv071
- Cramer, H., Ward, L., Steel, A., Lauche, R., Dobos, G., & Zhang, Y. (2016). Prevalence, patterns, and predictors of yoga use: Results of a U.S. nationally representative survey. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 50(2), 230-235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.07.037
- Cramer, H., Sibbritt, D., Park, C. L., Adams, J., & Lauche, R. (2017). Is the practice of yoga or meditation associated with a healthy lifestyle? Results of a national cross-

sectional survey of 28,695 Australian women. Journal of Psychosomatic

Research, 101(2017), 104-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2017.07.013

- Cronin, K. A., Lake, A. J., Scott, S., Sherman, R. L., Noone, A., Howlader, N., . . .
  Noone, A. M. (2018). Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, part I:
  National cancer statistics. *Cancer (0008543X)*, *124*, 2785-2799. DOI:
  10.1002/cncr.31551
- Daray, F. M., Mann, J. J., & Sublette, M. E. (2018). How lipids may affect risk for suicidal behavior. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 104, 16-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.06.007

Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Surgeon General. (2011). National prevention strategy: America's plan for better health and wellness. Retrieved from the Surgeon General website:

https://www.surgeongeneral.gov/priorities/prevention/strategy/report.pdf

- Dimitrov Ulian, M., B. Benatti, F., Lopes de Campos-Ferraz, P., Roble, O. J., Unsain, R.
  F., Sato, P. M, . . . Scagliusi, F. (2018). The effects of a "Health at Every Size"based approach in obese women: A pilot-trial of the "Health and Wellness in Obesity" study. *PLoS ONE*,2(34), 1-19. https:// doi: 10.3389/fnut.2015.00034
- Donesky, D., Selman, L., McDermott, K., Citron, T., & Howie-Esquivel, J. (2017).
  Evaluation of the feasibility of a home-based tele-yoga intervention in participants with both chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and heart failure. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary*, 23, 713-721. DOI: 10.1089/acm.2015.0279

Engström, M., & Söderfeldt, B. (2010). Brain activation during compassion meditation:

A case study. *Journal of Alternative And Complementary Medicine*, *16*, 597–599. DOI: 10.1089=acm.2009.0309

- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. Behav Res Methods, 41(4), 1149-1160. doi: 10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Feller, S. C., Castillo, E. G., Greenberg, J. M., Abascal, P., Van Horn, R., Wells, K. B., & University California Los Angeles Community Translational Science Team.
  (2018). Emotional well-being and public health: Proposal for a model national initiative. *Public Health Reports*, *133*(2), 136-141. https://doi: 10.1177/0033354918754540
- Ferolla, S. M., Silva, L. C., Ferrari, M. de L. A., da Cunha, A. S., Martins, F. D. S., Couto, C. A., & Ferrari, T. C. A. (2015). Dietary approach in the treatment of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *World Journal of Hepatology*, 7(24), 2522-2534. https://doi: 10.4254/wjh.v7.i24.252
- Foo, J., Landis, S. H., Maskell, J., Oh, Y. M., van der Molen, T., Han, M. K., Mannino,
  D. M., Ichinose, M., & Punekar, Y. (2016). Continuing to confront COPD international patient survey: Economic impact of COPD in 12 countries. *Plos One, 11*(4), 1-15. https://doi-:10.1371/journal.pone.0152618
- Gaiswinkler, L., & Unterrainer, H. (2016). The relationship between yoga involvement, mindfulness and psychological well-being. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 26, 123-127. doi:10.1016/j.ctim.2016.03.011

Grensman, A., Acharya, B. D., Wändell, P., Nilsson, G. H., Falkenberg, T., Sundin, Ö., &

Werner, S. (2018). Effect of traditional yoga, mindfulness-based cognitive therapy, and cognitive behavioral therapy, on health-related quality of life: A randomized controlled trial on patients on sick leave because of burnout. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 18*(80), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-018-2141-9

- Goode, A. P., Coeytaux, R. R., McDuffie, J., Duan-Porter, W., Sharma, P., Mennella, H., Nagi, A., & Williams, J. W., Jr. (2016). An evidence map of yoga for low back pain. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 25(2016), 170-177. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2016.02.016
- Gotink, R. A., Chu, P., Busschbach, J. V., Benson, B., Fricchione, G. L. & Hunink. M. G. (2015). Standardised mindfulness-based interventions in healthcare: An overview of systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(4), 1-17. https://DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0124344
- Gupta, Y. (2016). Bad cholesterol and good mood: exploring the link. *Open Journal of Psychiatry & Allied Sciences*, 7, 3-5. DOI: 10.5958/2394-2061.2016.00001.X
- Haider, T., Sharma, M., & Branscum, P. (2017). Yoga as an alternative and complimentary therapy for cardiovascular disease: A systematic review. *Journal* of Evidence-Based Complementary & Alternative Medicine, 22, 310-316. DOI: 10.1177/2156587215627390
- Haier, J., Duda, A., & Branss-Tallen, C. (2018). Improvement of well-being in cancer patients by yoga training. *Medical Journal of Indonesia*, 27(3),185-93. https://doi.org/10.13181/mji.v27i3.2744

Hamrick, I., Mross, P., Christopher, N., & Smith, P. D. (2017). Yoga's effect on falls in rural, older adults. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 35(2017), 57–63. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2017.09.007

Harris, A. R., Jennings, P. A., Abenavoli, R. M., Katz, D. A., Greenberg, M. T.,
Schussler, D., & Society for Research on Educational Effectiveness. (2014). A daily dose of CALM: Supporting middle school educators' wellbeing and classroom functioning through a brief stress reduction intervention. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=ED562741

- Hays, R. D., Spritzer, K. L., Thompson, W. W., & Cella, D. (2015). U.S. general population estimate for "excellent" to "poor" self-rated health item. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 30, 1511-1516. DOI: 10.1007/s11606-015-3290-x
- Hepburn, S. J., & McMahon, M. (2017). Pranayama meditation (yoga breathing) for stress relief: Is it beneficial for teachers? *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 42(9), 142-159. http://dx.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2017v42n9.9
- Ho, J. Y., & Hendi, A. S. (2018). Recent trends in life expectancy across high income countries: Retrospective observational study. *BMJ-British Medical Journal*, 362(2018), 1-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.k2562

Holt, M., & Powell, S. (2014). Health and well-being in small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). What public health support do SMEs really need? *Perspectives in Public Health*, 135(1), 49–55.
https://doi.org/10.1177/175791391452115

Hoseini, H., Maleki, F., Moeini, M., & Sharifirad, G. R. (2014). Investigating the effect

of an education plan based on the health belief model on the physical activity of women who are at risk for hypertension. *Iranian Journal of Nursing & Midwifery Research*, *19*(6), 647. Retrieved from https://www-ncbi-nlm-nihgov.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/pmc/articles/PMC4280731/

- Hörist-Kollmann, S., & Strametz-Juranek, J. (2018). Female dietary patterns and the pathogenesis of NAFLD. *Gender and the Genome*, 2(2), 49-55. https://doi-org. /10.1177/2470289718787091
- Jackson, M. (2005). Existential anthropology. Events, exigencies and effects. New York, NY: Berghahn Books.
- Janus, E., & Smrokowska-Reichmann, A. (2018). Level of happiness and happinessdetermining factors perceived by women aged over 60 years. *Journal of Women* & Aging, 7(6), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1080/08952841.2018.1485387
- Jeter, P. E., Moonaz, S. H., Bittner, A. K., & Dagnelie, G. (2015). Ashtanga-based yoga therapy increases the sensory contribution to postural stability in visuallyimpaired persons at risk for falls as measured by the Wii balance board: A pilot randomized controlled trial. *PLOS ONE, 10*, 1-23.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0129646

Johnson, P. J., Jou, J., Rhee, T. G., Rockwood, T. H., & Upchurch, D. M. (2016). Complementary health approaches for health and wellness in midlife and older U.S. adults. *Maturitas*, 89(2016), 36-42. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2016.04.012

Johnson, N. A., Ewald, B, Plotnikoff, R. C., Stacey, F. G., Brown, W. J., Jones, M., ...

James, E. L. (2018). Predictors of adherence to a physical activity counseling intervention delivered by exercise physiologists: secondary analysis of the NewCOACH trial data. Patient Preference and Adherence,*2018*(12), 2537-2542. http://dx.doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S183938

- Kabiri, R., Ali, S. K. S., & Zulnaidi, H. (2018). Perceived yoga exercise benefits and barriers of university students by gender: Results of a survey research. *Turkish Journal of Kinesiology*, *4*, 39-46. DOI: 10.31459/turkjkin.407340
- Kachan, D., Olano, H., Tannenbaum, S. L., Annane, D. W., Mehta, A., Arheart, K. L., ...
  Lee, D. J. (2017). Prevalence of mindfulness practices in the U.S. workforce:
  National Health Interview Survey. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *14*(e01), 1-12.
  https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd14.160034
- Kaminsky, D. A., Guntupalli, K. K., Lippmann, J., Burns, S. M., Brock, M. A., Skelly, J., DeSarno, M., Pecott-Grimm, H., Mohsin, A., LaRock-McMahon, C., Waren, P., Whitney, M. C., & Hanania, N. A. (2017). Effect of yoga breathing (pranayama) on exercise tolerance in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A randomized, controlled trial. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, *23*(9), 696-704. DOI: 10.1089/acm.2017.0102
- Kersemaekers, W., Rupprecht, S., Speckens, A., Wittmann, M., Tamdjidi, C., Falke, P., Donders, R., Speckens, A., & Kohls, N. (2018). A workplace mindfulness intervention may be associated with improved psychological well-being and productivity. A preliminary field study in a company setting. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 1-11. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00195

- Keyvanara, M., Karimi, S., Mohamadi, M., & Bahrami, S. (2017). Impact of cultural factors on the elderly utilization from healthcare services provided by Isfahan University of Medical Sciences' Hospitals - 2014. *International Journal of Educational and Psychological Researches, 2017*, 121-127. DOI: 10.4103/2395-2296.179074
- Kyte, D. K. (2016). Toward a sustainable sense of self in teaching and teacher education:
   Sustainable happiness and well-being through mindfulness. *McGill Journal of Education*, 51(3), 1143-1162. http://mje.mcgill.ca/article/view/9321/7174
- Laerd Statistics (2015). Statistical tutorials and software guides. Retrieved from https://statistics.laerd.com/
- Larson-Meyer, D. E. (2016). A systematic review of the energy cost and metabolic intensity of yoga. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 48, 1558-1569. DOI: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000022
- Lau, C., Yu, R., & Woo, J. (2015). Effects of a 12-Week Hatha Yoga Intervention on Metabolic Risk and Quality of Life in Hong Kong Chinese Adults with and without Metabolic Syndrome. *Plos One*, *10*, e0130731. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0130731
- Lee, H. Y., & Short, S. D. (2017). Do factors associated self-rated good health and their influences differ between males and females across different age groups in Korean and Australia? *Osong Public Health & Research Perspectives*, 8(1), 11-25. https://doi.org/10.24171/j.phrp.2017.8.1.03

Leening, M. J., Cook, N. R., Franco, O. H., Manson, J. E., Lakshminarayan, K.,

LaMonte, M. J., Leira, E. C., Robinson, J. G., Ridker, P. M., & Paynter, N. P. (2019). Comparison of cardiovascular risk factors for coronary heart disease and stroke type in women. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, *7*, 1-14. DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.117.007514

Lenferink, A., Brusse-Keizer, M., van der Valk, Frith, P. A., Zwerink, M., Monninkhof,
E. M., Palen, J., & Effing, T. W. (2017). Self-management interventions including action plans for exacerbations versus usual care in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, *8*, 1-147. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011682.pub2

Leischner, J. (2015). *Exploring yoga as a holistic lifestyle for sustainable human and environmental health* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://searchproquest-

com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/pqdtlocal1005747/docview/1666404025/38D00BC3 9ADE4C67PQ/1?accountid=14872

Lo, S. W., Chair, S. Y., & Lee, F. K. (2015). Factors associated with health-promoting behavior of people with or at high risk of metabolic syndrome: Based on the health belief model. *Applied Nursing Research*, 28, 197-201. doi: 10.1016/j.apnr.2014.11.001

Look, M. A., Maskarinec, G. G., de Silva, M., Seto, T., Mau, M. L., & Kaholokula, J. K.
(2014). Kumu hula perspectives on health. *Hawai'i Journal of Medicine & Public Health*, 73(12), 21-25.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4271348/#\_\_ffn\_sectitle

Lutz, D. J., Gipson, D. R., & Robinson, D. N. (2018). Yoga as an adjunct for treatment of substance abuse. *Practice Innovations* 4(1), 13-27. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/pri0000079

Lynch, J., Prihodova, L., Dunne, P. J., Carroll, Á., Walsh, C., McMahon, G., & White, B. (2018). Mantra meditation for mental health in the general population: A systematic review. *European Journal of Integrative Medicine*, 23(2018), 101-108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eujim.2018.09.010

- Mack, K. A., Peterson, C., Zhou, C., MacConvery, E., & Wilkins, N. (2017). Injury deaths among U.S. females: CDC resources and programs. *Journal of Women's Health*, 26, 307-312. DOI: 10.1089/jwh.2017.6348
- Monson, A. L., Chismark, A. M., Cooper, B. R., & Krenik-Matejcek, T. M. (2017).
  Effects of yoga on musculoskeletal pain. *Journal of Dental Hygiene*, 91(2), 15-21.
  https://jdh.adha.org/content/91/2/15/tab-article-info
- Montez, J. K., Zajacova, A., & Hayward, M. D. (2016). Explaining inequalities in women's mortality between U.S. states. SSM - Population Health, 2(2016), 561-571. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.07.004
- Mowls, D. S., Cheruvu, V. K., Schilz, R., & Zullo, M. D. (2015). COPD in a nationally representative sample: sociodemographic factors and co-morbidity, diagnosis method, and healthcare utilization. *COPD-Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary disease*, *12*, 96-103 DOI: 10.3109/15412555.2014.92206
- Murphy, N., Alderman, P., Harvey, K. V., & Harris, N. (2017). Women and heart disease: An evidence-based update. *The Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, *13*(9),

610-616. https://doi-org./10.1016/j.nurpra.2017.07.011

- Nambi, G., Inbasekaran, D., Khuman, R., Devi, S., Shanmugananth, & Jagannathan, K. (2014). Changes in pain intensity and health related quality of life with Iyengar yoga in nonspecific chronic low back pain: A randomized controlled study. *International Journal of Yoga*, 7, 48-53. DOI: 10.4103/0973-6131.123481
- National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health. (2018). Yoga: In depth. Retrieved from https://nccih.nih.gov/health/yoga/introduction.htm
- National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health. (2019) Grants and funding. Retrieved from https://nccih.nih.gov/grants
- National Center for Health Statistics. (2017). Health, United States, 2017. With a special feature on mortality. Hyattsville, MD.

National Center for Health Statistics. (2018). 2017 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) public use data release. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/data-questionnaires-documentation.htm

- National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. (2015). Preventing falls: A guide to implementing effective community-based fall prevention programs. 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2018). Substance use in women. Retrieved from https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugfacts/substance-use-in-women on 2019, March 10
- National Institute of Health. (2019). NIH guide to grants and contracts. Retrieved from https://grants.nih.gov/funding/SearchGuide/index.html?query=CHA+research&x

=0&y=0#/

- National Institute of Health Office of Research on Women's Health. (2019) Advancing science for the health of women: The 2019-2023 Trans-NIH strategic plan for women's health research. Retrieved from https://orwh.od.nih.gov/about/trans-nihstrategic-plan-womens-health-research.
- Ni, M., Mooney, K., Balachandran, A., Richards, L., Harriell, K., & Signorile, J. F.
  (2014). Muscle utilization patterns vary by skill levels of the practitioners across specific yoga poses (asanas). *Complementary Therapies In Medicine*, 22(4), 662-669. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2014.06.006
- Pandya, S. P. (2019). Meditation for meaning in life and happiness of older adults: A multi-city experiment of the brahma kumaris' raja yoga practice. *Journal of Religion, Spirituality & Aging, 31*(3), 282-304.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/15528030.2018.1483858
- Park, J., Clement, R., Hooyman, N., Cavalie, K., & Ouslander, J. (2015). Factor structure of the arthritis-related health belief instrument in ethnically diverse community-dwelling older adults with chronic pain. *Journal of Community Health*, 40, 73–81.
  DOI 10.1007/s10900-014-9898-7
- Park, C. L., Braun, T., & Siegel, T. (2015). Who practices yoga? A systematic review of demographic, health-related, and psychosocial factors associated with yoga practice. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 38, 460-471. DOI 10.1007/s10865-015-9618-5
- Park, C. L., Riley, K. E., & Braun, T. D. (2016). Practitioners' perceptions of yoga's

positive and negative effects: Results of a national United States survey. *Journal of Bodywork And Movement Therapies*, 20(2), 270-279. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jbmt.2015.11.005

Patti, A., Bianco, A., Sahin, N., Sekulic, D., Paoli, A., Iovane, A., Messina, G., Gagey,
P., & Palma, A. (2018). Postural control and balance in a cohort of healthy people living in Europe: An observational study. *Medicine*, 97(52).
http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000013835

- Patwardhan, A. R. (2017). Yoga research and public health: Is research aligned with the stakeholders' needs? *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, 8,31-36.
  DOI: 10.1177/2150131916664682
- Pickett, A. C. & Cunningham, G. B. (2017). Creating inclusive physical activity spaces: The case of body-positive yoga. *Research Quarterly for Exercise & Sport*, 88(3), 329-338. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2017.1335851
- Posadzki, P., Cramer, H., Kuzdzal, A., Lee, M. S., & Ernst, E. (2014). Yoga for hypertension: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 22(3), 511-522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2014.03.009
- Pullen, P., Seffens, W., & Thompson, W. (2018). Yoga for heart failure: A review and future research. *International Journal of Yoga*, 11, 91-98. doi: 10.4103/ijoy.IJOY\_24\_17: 10.4103/ijoy.IJOY\_24\_17
- Radmark, L., Hanson, L. L. M., Horwitz, E. B., & Osika, W. (2017). Prevalence of mind and body exercises (MBE) in relation to demographics, self-rated health, and purchases of prescribed psychotropic drugs and analgesics. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(9), 1-

15. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0184635

- Rao, R. M., Raghuram, N., Nagendra, H. R., Kodaganur, G. S., Bilimagga, R. S.,
  Shashidhara, H. P., . . . Rao, N. (2017). Effects of a yoga program on mood
  states, quality of life, and toxicity in breast cancer patients receiving conventional
  treatment: A randomized controlled trial. *Indian Journal of Palliative Care*, 23(3),
  237-246. https://doi- org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.4103/IJPC.IJPCpass:[\_]92\_17
- Rizer, C. A., Fagan, M. H., Kilmon, C., & Rath, L. (2016). The role of perceived stress and health beliefs on college students' intentions to practice mindfulness meditation. *American Journal of Health Education*, 47(1), 24-31. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/19325037.2015.1111176
- Russell, T. A., & Arcuri, S. M. (2015). A neurophysiological and neuropsychological consideration of mindful movement: Clinical and research implications. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 9, 1-17. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00282
- Schneider, M. J. (2011). Introduction to public health (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Sudbury, MA: Jones and Bartlett.
- Schneiderman, N., & Speers, M. A. (2013). Behavioral science, social science, and public health in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. In N. Schneiderman, M. A. Speers, J. M. Silva, H. Tomes, & J. H. Gentry (Eds.) *Integrating behavioral and social sciences with public health* (pp. 3-30). Baltimore, MD: United Book Press, Inc.
- Schnittker, J., & Bacak, V. (2014). The increasing predictive validity of self-rated health. *PLOS ONE*, *9*(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084933
- Schulte, P. A., Pana-Cryan, R., Schnorr, T., Schill, A. L., Guerin, R., Felknor, S., &

Wagner, G. R. (2017). An approach to assess the burden of work-related injury, disease, and distress. *American Journal of Public Health*, *107*, 1051-1057. doi:10.2105/AJPH. 2017.303765

- Schudson, M., & Baykurt, B. (2016). How does a culture of health change? Lessons from the war on cigarettes. *Social Science & Medicine*, *165*(2016), 289-296. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.03.006
- Seib, C., Whiteside, E., Humphreys, J., Lee, K., Thomas, P., Chopin, L., Crisp, G., O'Keeffe, A., Kimlin, M., Stacey, A., & Anderson, D. (2014). A longitudinal study of the impact of chronic psychological stress on health-related quality of life and clinical biomarkers: Protocol for the Australian Healthy Aging of Women Study. *BMC Public Health 14*(9), 1-8. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/14/9
- Selman, L., McDermott, K., Donesky, D., Citron, T., & Howie-Esquivel, J. (2015). Appropriateness and acceptability of a tele-yoga intervention for people with heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Qualitative findings from a controlled pilot study. *BMC Complementary & Alternative Medicine*, 1-21. DOI 10.1186/s12906-015-0540-8
- Sharma, S., Pailoor, S., Choudhary Ram, N., & Shrestha, S. (2019). Development of a yoga module targeting cardiovascular health for patients with post-myocardial left ventricular dysfunction in India. *Complementary Therapies In Medicine*, 42(2019), 170-177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2018.11.006

Shern, D. L., Blanch, A. K., & Steverman, S. M. (2016). Toxic stress, behavioral health,

and the next major era in public health. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 86(2), 109-123. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/ort0000120

- Skinner, C. S., Tiro, J., & Champion, V. L. (2015). The health belief model. In K. Glanz,
  B. K. Rimer, & K. Viswanath (Eds.) *Health behavior: Theory, research and practice* (pp. 74-93). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Smith, P. D., Mross, P., & Christopher, N. (2017). Development of a falls reduction yoga program for older adults-A pilot study. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, *31*(2017), 118-126. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2017.01.007 0965-2299
- Smith, R., Frazer, K., Hyde, A., O'Connor, L., & Davidson, P. (2018). "Heart disease never entered my head": Women's understanding of coronary heart disease risk factors. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27, 3953-3967. DOI: 10.1111/jocn.14589
- Steele, C. B., Thomas, C. C., Henley, S. J., Massetti, G. M., Galuska, D. A., Agurs-Collins, T., . . . Richardson, L. C. (2017). Vital signs: Trends in Incidence of Cancers Associated with Overweight and Obesity United States, 2005-2014.
  MMWR. Morbidity And Mortality Weekly Report, 66(39), 1052-1058. https://doi-org.ezp.10.15585/mmwr.mm6639e1
- Stiglitz, J. E., Sen, A., & Fitoussi, J. P. (2010). Report by the commission on the measurement of economic performance and social progress. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/118025/118123/Fitoussi+Commission+re port
- Strowger, M., Kiken, L. G., & Ramcharran, K. (2018). Mindfulness meditation and physical activity: Evidence from 2012 National Health Interview Survey. *Health*

Psychology, 37(10), 924-928. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/hea0000656

- Stussman, B. J., Black, L. I., Barnes, P. M., Clarke, T. C., Nahin, R. L. (2015). Wellnessrelated use of common complementary health approaches among adults: United States, 2012 (Report No. 85). Retrieved from the National Center for Health Statistics website: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr085.pdf
- Subramaniam, S., & Bhatt, T. (2017). Effect of yoga practice on reducing cognitivemotor interference for improving dynamic balance control in healthy adults. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 30(2017), 30-35. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2016.10.012
- Sulat, J. S., Prabandari, Y. S., Sanusi, R., Hapsari, E. D., & Santoso, B. (2018). The validity of health belief model variables in predicting behavioral change: A scoping review. *Health Education*, *118*(6), 499-512. https://doi.org/10.1108/HE-05-2018-0027
- Sutcher, L., Darling-Hammond, L., & Carver-Thomas, D. (2016). A coming crisis in teaching? Teacher supply, demand, and shortages in the U.S. Palo Alto, CA: Learning Policy Institute.
- Schneider, S., Diehl, K., Görig, T., Schilling, L., De Bock, F., Hoffmann, K., . . . Fischer,
  J. (2017). Contextual influences on physical activity and eating habits -options for action on the community level. *BMC Public Health*, *17*(1), 1-7. DOI

10.1186/s12889-017-4790-x

Taneja, D. K. (2014). Yoga and health. Indian Journal of Community Medicine: Official Publication Of Indian Association Of Preventive & Social Medicine, 39, 68-72. doi-10.4103/0970-0218.132716

- Telles, S., Gupta, R. K., Bhardwaj, A. K., Singh, N., Mishra, P., Pal, D. K., & Balkrishna,
  A. (2018). Increased mental well-being and reduced state anxiety in teachers after
  participation in a residential yoga program. *Medical Science Monitor Basic Research*, 24, 105-112. doi: 10.12659/MSMBR.909200
- Tick, H., Nielsen, A., Pelletier, K. R., Bonakdar, R., Simmons, S., Glick, R., . . . Zador,
  V. (2018). Evidence-based nonpharmacologic strategies for comprehensive pain care: The consortium pain task force white paper. *EXPLORE*, *14*(3), 177-211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.explore.2018.02.001
- Trujillo, M. D., & Plough, A. (2016). Building a culture of health: A new framework and measures for health and health care in America. *Social Science & Medicine*, 165(2016), 206-213. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.06.043
- Vadiraja, H. S., Rao, R. M., Nagarathna, R., Nagendra, H. R., Patil, S., Diwakar, R. B., . .
  Ajaikumar, B. S. (2017). Effects of yoga in managing fatigue in breast cancer patients: A randomized controlled trial. *Indian Journal of Palliative Care*, 23, 247-252. doi: 10.4103/IJPC.IJPC\_95\_17
- Vizcaino, M., & Stover, E. (2016). The effect of yoga practice on glycemic control and other health parameters in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 28(2016), 57-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2016.06.007
- von der Lippe, E., & Rattay, P. (2016). Association of partner, parental, and employment statuses with self-rated health among German women and men. *SSM Population*

Health, 2(2016), 390-398. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.05.005

- Warner, R. M. (2013). *Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Wertman, A., Wister, A. V., & Mitchell, B. A. (2016). On and off the mat: Yoga experiences of middle-aged and older adults. *Canadian Journal on Aging Revue Canadienne Du Viellissement*, 35(2), 190-205. doi:10.1017/S0714980816000155
- Wolff, M., Brorsson, A., Midlöv, P., Sundquist, K., & Strandberg, E. L. (2017). Yoga— A laborious way to well-being: Patients' experiences of yoga as a treatment for hypertension in primary care. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care*, 35(4), 360-368. https://doi.org/10.1080/02813432.2017.1397318
- Yamashita, T., Bardo, A. R., Liu, D., & Yoo, J. W. (2019). Education, lifelong learning and self-rated health in later life in the USA. *Health Education Journal*, 78(3), 328-339. https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896918809500
- Yang, C. H., & Conroy, D. E. (2018). Momentary negative affect is lower during mindful movement than while sitting: An experience sampling study. *Psychology of sport* and exercise, 37(2018), 109-116.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2018.05.003

- Yang, K., & James, K. A. (2016). Yoga, as a transitional platform to more active lifestyle: a 6-month pilot study in the USA. *Health Promotion International*, *31*, 423-429. doi: 10.1093/heapro/dau108
- Zacharia, S., Taylor, E. L., Branscum, P. W., Cheney, M. K., Hofford, C. W., & Crowson, M. (2018). Effects of a yoga intervention on adults with lower limb

osteoarthritis: A randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Health Studies*, *33*(2), 89-98. Retrieved from http://www.va-ajhs.com/

Zuo, X.-L., Li, Q., Gao, F., Yang, L., & Meng, F.-J. (2016). Effects of yoga on negative emotions in patients with breast cancer: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 3(2016), 299-306. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2016.07.009